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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG
KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate
small and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment
risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock
Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential
risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision
to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and
mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM
may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities
traded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance
is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on
GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange
take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no
representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly
disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or
in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the "Directors”, and each, a
‘Director”) of Kwong Man Kee Group Limited (the “Company’, together
with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) collectively and individually accept
full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange
(the "GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with
regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable
enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the
information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all
material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no
other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or
this report misleading.

This report will remain on “Latest Listed Company Information” page
of the website of the Stock Exchange at www.hkexnews.hk for at least
7 days from the date of its posting and the Company’s website at
www.kmk.com.hk.
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Company, | am
pleased to present the annual report of the Company for the year ended
31 March 2024.

Review

As a well-established contractor in the car park flooring industry in
Hong Kong and Macau, we provide (i) flooring services, which involve
the application of proprietary floor coating products for the purpose
of providing a colorful, slip-resistance, hard wearing surface that is
resistant against water and petrochemicals; (ii) ancillary services, which
include specialised texture painting and waterproofing works; and
(iii) sales of flooring and water proofing materials. Our target segment
ranges from mid to high end projects in the relevant markets.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the revenues from Hong Kong,
Macau and other Asian regions markets were approximately HK$145.6
million (2023: approximately HK$168.2 million), HK$1.6 million (2023:
approximately HK$2.4 million) and HK$384,000 (2023: Nil), respectively.

The Directors noted that due to slowing global economic conditions
and the overall uncertain outlook in the property sector in Hong Kong
and Macau, the demand in the commercial and private residential
markets had remained relatively weak. Factors such as global inflation
and increase in interest rates had resulted in higher borrowing costs
generally and may have adversely impacted the willingness of property
developers to purchase land for construction projects, resulting in
possible postponements and decline of construction and renovation
projects undertaken for the relevant period. Continuous effort has been
made to diversify the source of revenue of the Group by exploring and
extending its business into other developing and growing economies in
the Asian regions.

In light of the above, the Directors expect our business environment in
Hong Kong and Macau would continue to be challenging in the coming
years. The Group will continue to closely monitor the market conditions
and take appropriate measures where necessary and appropriate.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
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Looking Forward

In order to continue to generate promising returns and to further
diversify risks for the shareholders of the Company under the changing
economic conditions, the Directors are continuing to take active
approach to seek alternative business opportunities and to explore
new sources of income around the world. Meanwhile, the Group shall
continue to dedicate its effort to further its existing business and to
maintain its competitiveness in the carpark flooring and waterproofing
sectors.

Appreciation

On behalf of the Group, | would like to express my gratitude and sincere
appreciation to all customers, suppliers, subcontractors, business
partners and professional parties for their support during these
challenging times. | also take this opportunity to thank our management
and employees for their contribution and commitment throughout the
year.

Kwong Man Kee Group Limited
Kwong Chi Man
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 26 June 2024
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. KWONG Chi Man (B&X), aged 68, is the chairman of the Group.
Mr. Kwong is mainly responsible for the leadership and management
of the Board and strategic planning of the Group. Mr. Kwong was
appointed as an executive Director on 30 May 2016. He is a Director of
all subsidiaries of the Group.

Mr. Kwong has accumulated over 40 years of experience in the
construction industry. Mr. Kwong entered into the construction industry
as a sole proprietor with the business registration of Kwong Man
Kee Engineering in 1982. Mr. Kwong started the car park flooring
business in 2003 and in 2005 undertook projects from major property
developers, architects, main contractors and government bodies. In
2008, Mr. Kwong became a shareholder and Director of Kwong Man
Kee Engineering Limited (“KMK”) and subsequently became the sole
shareholder of KMK in 2013. Mr. Kwong has accumulated over 20 years
of experience in the car park flooring industry.

Mr. Yip Kong Lok (¥784%), aged 48, is an executive Director and chief
executive officer of the Group and is principally responsible for the
business development, overall management and business operations
of the Group. Mr. Yip first joined the Group in November 2003 on a part
time basis to promote the Group’s business. In August 2015, Mr. Yip
took up the position of manager of KMK on a full time basis. Mr. Yip
has accumulated over 20 years of experience in the car park flooring
industry. Mr. Yip is a Director of all subsidiaries of the Group except
Victor Ease Limited.

Mr. Yip graduated from The University of British Columbia in May
1997 with a bachelor’s degree in civil engineering with distinction and
subsequently obtained a master’'s degree in engineering from the same
university in May 1998.

B E @ F

HITES

BEXSLE 685 AAKETE TERAE
ZENRERERURASENRBRE - WX
AR-_T-R"FRLA=ZTHEZERNTES -
RAXEEZHMBARNES -

BEENEZEXZRBIFLR -BELAER
—NWNZFRBEGEEFNREBER » TN
BXRIRAAMERERTL BEEN_TT=
FHEEESMTIHRES IR _FTRFA
MARER R - R - RREHRBTHE
BMEE - R-FEN\F BEERABXRZT
BAERAR ((BXR)NBREES RN
T-ZFRRBNEE—RR - BEEREES
W ERITRRER20F KR -

FRBRLLE 485 RAKEHTESRITRE
B IBRRAAKENEBER BREERXE
BEE - ERER_ZTT=F1+ - ANURRET
AERMAREE  NERAEEEXE - R -F
—EEN\A ERAELERBXEHEBLE - &
RERNEESMTEHRTEREB0F LR -
REERAEE2HME AR GURER AR
INHESE -

RAER-NNEFLASEFNRBFRL TR
2 ERIATRBLSM (KEERR) HERN
—ANNFRABRBR-ASHNIRELS

fi

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED B X st &£ B A R & A



8

PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Yu Wan Wah Amparo (R#Z), aged 49, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 24 September 2016. Ms. Yu has
accumulated experience in the civil and geotechnical engineering field
when she was employed from 1998 to 2005 by Greg Wong & Associates
Limited, a civil and structural engineering company in Hong Kong. In
2012, Ms. Yu commenced her legal career and she was admitted as a
solicitor of the High Court of Hong Kong in April 2014.

Ms. Yu obtained a bachelor’s degree in civil engineering from the
University of British Columbia in May 1997 and a master’'s degree
in engineering (civil) from Cornell University (USA) in May 1998.
In November 2007, Ms. Yu further completed a master’'s degree in
engineering (industrial engineering and logistics management) from the
University of Hong Kong. In December 2010, Ms. Yu obtained her Juris
Doctor degree and subsequently the Postgraduate Certificate in Laws
(PCLL) in July 2011, both from the Chinese University of Hong Kong.

Mr. Law Pui Cheung (#M8), aged 68, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 24 September 2016. Mr. Law
has accumulated over 35 years of experience in the accountancy
profession. Mr. Law began his career with Ernst and Whinney, the
predecessor firm of Ernst & Young, an international accounting firm in
Hong Kong. Mr. Law joined Li, Tang, Chen & Co., a practising certified
public accountant firm in Hong Kong in 1989 and retired as a partner
in June 2016. Mr. Law had been a practising director of Yong Zheng
CPA Limited and has recently retired as the founder and chief executive
officer of Marvin Law & Co., a certified public accountant firm in
December 2023.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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Mr. Law is a fellow or member of the following professional
organisations:

B E @ F
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Organisation Capacity Since (Year)
B B ik (F17)
The Chartered Association of Certified Accountants Fellow 1990
SN VN- BAREgE —hWNEEF
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants Fellow 1985
BEGMNE BEARg8 IANIE:S
Macau Society of Certified Practising Accountants Member 1995
EFGHIAE g8 —ANAF
Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute Fellow 2015
BEEESFRIRESES BEARg8 —E-RF
The Hong Kong Institute of Directors Fellow 2011
BEBEEEY BAgB —E——%
The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales Fellow 2015
E ST LR R VN BARg8 —E-RF

Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan (JE%87), aged 48, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 24 September 2016. Mr. Wat
has accumulated more than 10 years of experience in the civil and
geotechnical engineering field when he was employed from August
1998 to November 2009 by Mott MacDonald Hong Kong Limited, a
global management, engineering and development consultancy firm.
Mr. Wat is a director of Kin Wah Hong Paper Limited, a company with
the principle business of paper agency and distributorship in Hong
Kong.

Mr. Wat has been a member of the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers
(Civil Discipline) since March 2003.

Mr. Wat graduated from the University of British Columbia in May 1997
with a bachelor’s degree in civil engineering and subsequently obtained
a master’s degree of Engineering (Civil) from Cornell University (USA) in
May 1998.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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Ms. To Yee Man (A£{&X), aged 40, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 5 February 2024. Ms. To has accumulated
more than 17 years of experience in corporate governance, mergers
and acquisitions, auditing and financial management. Ms. To began
her working career at Ernst and Young, an international accounting
firm. Ms. To previously served as the financial controller and company
secretary of two Main Board listed companies, including China VAST
Industrial Urban Development Company Limited (stock code: 6166)
and Central China New Life Limited (stock code: 9983). She is currently
the chief financial officer of a non-listed company primarily responsible
for the financial and accounting matters and the company secretary of
China Wan Tong Yuan Holdings Limited (stock code: 6966).

Ms. To graduated from The Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology and obtained a bachelor's degree of Business
Administration in Operations Management and Accounting in 2006.
Ms. To is currently a member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Choi Wai Hung (£:{2#%), aged 60, joined the Group as the financial
controller and company secretary in December 2017. He is responsible
for overall financial management and company secretarial matters of
the Group. He also supports the management on strategic and financial
planning and funding matters in relation to the business development of
the Group.

Mr. Choi has over 30 years of experience in financial management,
financial control, auditing, treasury, taxation as well as various projects
regarding mergers and acquisitions and initial public offerings. During
the course of his professional career, he had the opportunity to hold
various senior accounting and finance positions in company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, international corporation and
other well-established companies in various industries.

Mr. Choi obtained his diploma in accounting at Hong Kong Shue Yan
College (now known as Hong Kong Shue Yan University) in 1990 and
obtained his master's degree in management majored in accounting
at Dongbei University of Finance and Economics, People’s Republic of
China in 2010. He has been a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants since 1999 and 2003, respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in car park flooring industry in Hong
Kong and Macau. We provide (i) flooring services, which involve
the application of proprietary floor coating products for the purpose
of providing a colorful, slip-resistance, hard wearing surface that is
resistant against water and petrochemicals; (ii) ancillary services, which
include specialised texture painting and waterproofing works; and
(iii) sales of flooring and waterproofing materials. Our target segment
ranges from mid to high end projects in the relevant markets.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the revenues from Hong
Kong, Macau and other Asian regions were approximately HK$145.6
million (2023: approximately HK$168.2 million), HK$1.6 million (2023:
approximately HK$2.4 million) and HK$384,000 (2023: Nil), respectively.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group recorded total revenue
of approximately HK$147.6 million, or the decrease by approximately
13.5% as compared with approximately HK$170.6 million for the same
period ended 31 March 2023, and the Group’s profit attributable to
owners of the Company decreased from approximately HK$19.1 million
for the year ended 31 March 2023 to approximately HK$13.9 million for
the year ended 31 March 2024.

In September 2023, the Group entered into a supplemental agreement
with Zephyr Group, Inc. (“ZGI") to extend the maturity date of the
convertible promissory note with principal sum of US$500,000 from 1
July 2023 (the original maturity date) to 1 July 2024 (new maturity date).
Save as amended, the other terms of the convertible promissory note
remain unchanged and shall continue in full force. ZGI was incorporated
in the United States of American and is a plant-based biotech company
focusing on health, wellness and unique nutraceutical products.

Revenue

The flooring services segment were the focus among our business
segments for the year ended 31 March 2024. It involves the application
of proprietary floor coating products for the purpose of providing a
colorful, slip-resistance, hard wearing surface that is resistant against
water and petrochemicals. During the year ended 31 March 2024,
the revenue from the floor services decreased by HK$19.2 million to
HK$123.8 million (2023: approximately HK$143.0 million).

The ancillary services segment includes specialised texture painting
and waterproofing works. During the year ended 31 March 2024, the
revenue from ancillary services decreased by HK$4.1 million to HK$23.0
million (2023: approximately HK$27.1 million).
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The sales of materials segment includes the sales of flooring and
waterproofing materials. During the year ended 31 March 2024,
the revenue from the sales of materials increased by approximately
HK$307,000 to approximately HK$796,000 (2023: approximately
HK$489,000).

In total, the revenue, principally generated from the provision of
car park flooring services for construction projects, decreased
by approximately HK$23.0 million or approximately 13.5% from
approximately HK$170.6 million for year ended 31 March 2023 to
approximately HK$147.6 million for year ended 31 March 2024. The
decrease in revenue was mainly due to (i) the postponement of certain
contracts by some property developers caused by the adverse market

HEMH D BEIEHEE TR L KM E -
BE_T-_MFEZAZ+-RBLFE  #HEMH
U 2 38 A1 #7307,00078 7T £ 43796,000/8 7L (=&
T =4 1 49489,000/8 7T) ©

HEmMs  WEFTERRAREBELRREFES
WITSHRRYG  HHE S -_=F=A=1+—
H I F [Z 49170,600,0007% 7T &% 4 4723,000,000
B A135%EHE_E-_MF=A=+—H
L FE4147,600,0008 - =B P ETERMA
RS EENER MM EEREHEES D
X R(INVEEZZ-_NF=ZA=F+—HLF

conditions and (ii) the decrease in number of projects with higher E AEBEAZEAYSERSNEEHERD -
contract sum undertaken by the Group during the year ended 31 March
2024.
A breakdown of the revenue is listed below: WA T
Year ended 31 March
BE=A=t—-HLEE
2024 2023
HK$ BT —EomEF —E-=F
Flooring I 4R 3% 123,800,375 143,014,181
Ancillary services RERS 22,959,776 27,101,784
Sales of materials SHEME 796,102 489,112
147,556,253 170,605,077
Gross profit and gross profit margin EFEEFN=R

The Group’ s gross profit for the year ended 31 March 2024 and 2023
was approximately HK$53.3 million and HK$53.8 million, respectively.
The gross profit margin of the Group increased from approximately
31.6% for the year ended 31 March 2023 to approximately 36.1% for
the same period ended 31 March 2024. The increase in gross profit
was mainly caused by higher gross profit margin in certain projects as
compared with the year ended 31 March 2028.

Other income and other gains, net

Other income and other gains, net of the Group significantly decreased
by approximately HK$1.8 million from approximately HK$2.3 million
for the year ended 31 March 2023 to approximately HK$561,000 for
the year ended 31 March 2024. For the year ended 31 March 2023,
it primarily consisted of the subsidies provided by the Government
of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region and the Government of
Macau Special Administrative Region under the 2022 Employment
Support Scheme and COVID-19 pandemic relief measures. There were
no such subsidies received for the year ended 31 March 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Reversal of/(provision for) impairment loss on trade and retention
receivables and contract assets

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the impairment loss on trade and
retention receivables and contract assets of approximately HK$723,000
was reversed. (2023: provision for impairment loss of approximately
HK$748,000).

Impairment loss is calculated under expected credit loss model with
reference to the expected credit loss rates, which were determined
based on the Group’s internal and historical credit loss data, the
days past due and the probability of default of customers, and also
taking into account the forward-looking information. The details of the
measurement are set out in Note 3.1(c) to the consolidated financial
statements in this report.

General and administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses of the Group increased by
approximately HK$2.8 million from approximately HK$30.2 million for
the year ended 31 March 2023 to approximately HK$33.1 million for
the year ended 31 March 2024. The increase was mainly attributable
to the increase in staff salary, staff bonus and number of experienced
staff. General and administrative expenses consist primarily of staff
cost, depreciation, professional fee and other general administrative
expenses.

Share of loss of an associate
Share of loss of an associate relates to the Group’s 40% equity interest
in an associate for the provision of a car-sharing platform and motor
beauty in Hong Kong. The Group’s share of loss of the associate for
the year ended 31 March 2024 was approximately HK$130,000 (2023:
approximately HK$1.0 million).

Impairment loss on the interest in an associate

Impairment loss on the interest in an associate relates to the Group’s
40% equity interest in an associate for the provision of a car-sharing
platform and motor beauty in Hong Kong. The associate’s business has
been impacted by the adverse economic conditions in Hong Kong since
2022.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group conducted an impairment
review on its investment in the associate with reference to the valuation
performed by an independent professional valuer. The Group’s
impairment loss on the interest in the associate was recognised in the
profit and loss as approximately HK$3.2 million for the year ended 31

March 2024 (2023: Nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B B E N W R 2

Income tax expense

Income tax expense for the Group was approximately HK$3.7 million for
the year ended 31 March 2024 as compared with income tax expense
of approximately HK$4.2 million for the year ended 31 March 2023.
The decrease of income tax expense was mainly attributable to the
decrease in profit before income tax from approximately HK$24.0 million
for the year ended 31 March 2023 to approximately HK$18.5 million for
the year ended 31 March 2024.

Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company

As a result of the foregoing, the profit attributable to owners of the
Company decreased from approximately HK$19.1 million for the year
ended 31 March 2023 to approximately HK$13.9 million for the year
ended 31 March 2024,

OUTLOOK

Due to the slowing of the global economic conditions and the general
uncertainties surrounding the property markets in Hong Kong and
Macau, it is expected that the Group would continue to face various
challenges in the coming years including but not limited to weak
demand in the commercial and residential real estate sectors, rising
global inflation, increasing interest rates and borrowing costs for
businesses, as well as the deceasing economic support from the
governments of Hong Kong and Macau.

Nonetheless, the Group is responsive to the ever-changing market
conditions and had been actively pursuing diversification in both
revenue and business risks by exploring and investing in business
opportunities around the world, especially in the other growing
economies within the Asian region. These strategies were adopted
primarily to safeguard shareholders’ interests and returns on
investments in the times when global economic situation remains
volatile. Meanwhile, the Group strives to continue to maintain its
competitive edge and market leadership in the carpark flooring and
waterproofing sectors, which have always been the core components of
the Group’s business.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group maintained a healthy financial position during the year ended
31 March 2024. As at 31 March 2024, the Group had cash and cash
equivalents of approximately HK$46.2 million (2023: approximately
HK$34.4 million). The Group’s current ratio was approximately 2.6 times
as at 31 March 2024 compared to approximately 2.4 times at 31 March
2023.

The total interest-bearing borrowings (including bank borrowings and
lease liabilities) of the Group as at 31 March 2024 were approximately
HK$15.5 million (2023: approximately HK$14.0 million). The borrowings
were secured by the Group’s certain assets with carrying amount
of approximately HK$33.8 million as at 31 March 2024 (2023:
approximately HK$35.2 million).

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had total assets of approximately
HK$181.3 million (2023: approximately HK$174.3 million) which were
financed by total liabilities and total equity of approximately HK$54.8
million (2023: approximately HK$55.6 million) and approximately
HK$126.5 million (2023: approximately HK$118.7 million).

The Board considers that the Group has sufficient financial resources to
meet its funding requirements at all times.

CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

As at 31 March 2024, certain assets included in property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets with carrying amounts of HK$9.3
million and HK$23.1 million (2023: HK$9.7 million and HK$24.1 million),
respectively, and investment in an insurance contract with a carrying
amount of HK$1.4 million (2023: HK$1.3 million), were charged to
secure a banking facilities of approximately HK$25.5 million (2023:
HK$26.6 million). As at 31 March 2024, approximately HK$12.5 million
of the banking facilities were unutilised (2023: approximately HK$14.5
million).

GEARING RATIO
The gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 March 2024 was approximately
10.9% (2023: approximately 10.5%).

The gearing ratio is calculated based on the total interest-bearing
borrowings divided by the total capital of approximately HK$142.0
million as at 31 March 2024 (2023: approximately HK$132.6 million).
The total capital of the Group is calculated as total equity plus total
borrowings.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B B E N W R 2

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The shares of the Company were listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange
on 13 October 2016. The share capital of the Company only comprises
of ordinary shares.

As at 31 March 2024, the Company’s issued share capital was
HK$5,974,440 (2023: HK$6,000,000) and the number of its issued
ordinary shares was 597,444,000 (2023: 600,000,000) of HK$0.01 each.
During the year, the Company repurchased a total of 2,556,000 of the
Company's shares and had been cancelled in December 2023.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES

Save as disclosed in this report, there was no significant investment
held by the Group nor any material acquisition or disposal of subsidiary,
associate and joint venture for the year ended 31 March 2024.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL
ASSETS

As at the date of this report, the Board does not have any plan for
material investments or additions of capital assets.

RISK OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE FLUCTUATIONS

The group’s assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses are mainly
denominated in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), United States dollars
(“US$”), Macau Pataca (“MOP”) and Malaysian Ringgit (‘MYR"). Under
the Linked Exchange Rate System of Hong Kong, HK$ is pegged to
USS$. Hence, the risk of the exchange rate fluctuation of US$ against
HKS$ is very limited. The exchange rates fluctuations of MOP and MYR
against HK$ are primarily arising from the operations of the Group’s
subsidiaries in Macau and Malaysia. In considering of their size of
the operations, the Group considers the risk of foreign exchange
fluctuations of MOP and MYR against HK$ are insignificant to the
Group.

The Group does not have foreign currency hedging arrangement but will
closely monitor the exposure and take measures when necessary.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

TREASURY POLICY

The Group adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policies and maintained a healthy liquidity position
throughout the reporting year. To manage liquidity risk, the Board
closely monitors the Group’s liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity
structure of the Group’s assets, liabilities and commitments can meet its
funding requirements from time to time.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had 54 employees in total (2023: 52
employees). The employee costs of the Group (including directors’
emoluments and management, administrative and operational staff
costs) for the year ended 31 March 2024 were approximately HK$27.1
million (2023: approximately HK$23.6 million).

As of 31 March 2024, the gender ratio for the Group’s employees
was approximately 87.0% male and approximately 13.0% female. The
Company promotes a fair employment policy, and the recruitment has
been merit-based in order to produce a more diverse pool of skilled
and experienced team of staff. The Company plans to gradually achieve
a higher proportion of female staff across the workforce. Further
details relating to the Group’s diversity approach can be found in the
Company’s 2024 ESG report.

The Group remunerates its employees based on their performance,
working experience and with reference to the prevailing market
conditions. On top of basic remuneration, discretionary bonus may
be granted to senior management and staff members by reference to
the Group’s performance as well as individual’s performance. Other
staff benefits include medical benefits, mandatory provident fund and
sponsorship of training courses. Share options may also be granted to
eligible employees as incentives or rewards for their contribution to the
Group.

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITY

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities. As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s committed lease
payments were recognised as lease liabilities of approximately HK$2.5
million (2023: approximately HK$1.9 million).
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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INTRODUCTION

Pursuant to Rule 18.44(2) of the GEM Listing Rules, the Board is
pleased to present the corporate governance report of the Company for
the year ended 31 March 2024.

The Company has made continued efforts to incorporate the key
elements of sound corporate governance in its management structures
and internal control procedures. The Company is committed to
maintaining a high standard of corporate governance, the principles
of which serve to uphold a high standard of ethics, transparency,
responsibility and integrity in all aspects of business, and to ensure
that affairs are conducted in accordance with applicable laws and
regulations.

The Board believes that good and effective corporate governance
practices are keys to obtaining and maintaining the trust of the
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) and other
stakeholders, and essential for encouraging accountability and
transparency so as to sustain the success of the Group and to create
long-term value for the Shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”)
as set out in Appendix C1 of the GEM Listing Rules, which includes
developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance, training and continuous professional
development of Directors, and reviewing the Company’s compliance
with the code provision in the CG Code and disclosures in this report.

The Company has complied with the principles and applicable code
provisions of the CG Code for the year ended 31 March 2024.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules
as the code of conduct for securities transactions by the Directors in
respect of the Shares (the “Code of Conduct”). Having made specific
enquiries to all Directors, each of them has confirmed that he/she has
fully complied with the required standard of dealings set out in the Code
of Conduct during the year ended 31 March 2024.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board assumes responsibility for leadership and control of the
Company, and is collectively responsible for directing and supervising
the Company’s affairs. The Board meets regularly for considering,
reviewing and/or approving matters relating to, among others, the
financial and operating performance, as well as, the overall strategies
and policies of the Company. Additional meetings are held when
significant events or important issues are required to be discussed and
resolved.

Responsibilities of the Directors
The Directors’ responsibilities include, inter alia:

o To attend regular Board meetings focusing on business strategy,
operational issues and financial performance;

J To review annual budgets for the Group;

o To monitor the quality, timeliness, relevance and reliability of
internal and external reporting;

o To consider and approve the consolidated financial statements
in quarterly, interim and annual reports, announcements and
press releases of quarterly, interim and annual results;

o To focus on matters affecting the Company’s overall strategic
policies, finances and interest of the Shareholders;

o To consider dividend policy and dividend amount; and
o To review and monitor the corporate governance policies and
practices of the Group to ensure compliance with the legal and

regulatory requirements.

The Company has taken out director and officer liability insurance to
cover liabilities arising from legal action against the Directors.
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Composition
The composition of the Board up to the date of this report is set out as
follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Kwong Chi Man (Chairman)
(re-elected on 26 August 2022)

Mr. Yip Kong Lok (Chief Executive Officer)
(re-elected on 26 August 2022)

Independent non-executive Directors

Ms. Yu Wan Wah Amparo (re-elected on 18 August 2023)
Mr. Law Pui Cheung (re-elected on 18 August 2023)

Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan (re-elected on 18 August 2023)
Ms. To Yee Man (appointed on 5 February 2024)

There is no financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship among members of the Board.

All Directors have distinguished themselves in their field of expertise,
and have exhibited high standards of personal and professional ethics
and integrity. The profiles of the Directors are set out in the section
headed “Profile of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 7 to 10
of this report.

With the various experience of the executive Directors and the
independent non-executive Directors (the “INEDs”) and the nature of
the Group’s business, the Company recognises the benefits of having
a Board with well-balanced experience and qualification to maintain
a sustainable business development of the Group in long run. In
recognition of the Company’s commitment to a well-balanced Board,
the nomination committee of the Company is entrusted to review the
Company’s human resources policy and recruitment process to ensure
the effectiveness of the policy.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

In compliance with rule 5.05A, 5.05(1) and (2) of the GEM Listing Rules,
the Company has appointed four INEDs representing at least one-third
of the Board and at least one of whom has appropriate professional
qualifications, or accounting or related financial management expertise.
As such, there is a strong element in the Board to provide independent
judgment.

On 5 February 2024, Ms. To Yee Man was appointed as an INED of the
Company. After obtaining the legal advice referred to in Rule 5.02D
of the GEM Listing Rules on 4 February 2024, she confirmed she
understood her obligations as a Director of the Company.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
from each of the INEDs pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.
The Company considers the INEDs to be independent as at the date of
this report.

TERMS OF APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS
Each executive Director has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for a fixed term of three years and will continue thereafter
until terminated by either party giving not less than three months’ written
notice to the other party.

The service agreements and/or letters of appointment of the Directors
are subject to termination in accordance with their respective terms.
They can be renewed in accordance with the articles of association of
the Company (“Articles”) and the applicable GEM Listing Rules.

As required under the Articles, all Directors are subject to election by
the Shareholders at the Company at the first general meeting after their
appointment. At every annual general meeting of the Company at least
one-third of the Directors for the time being shall retire from office by
rotation, provided that every Director (including those appointed for a
specific term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years. A retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election
thereat.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING AND DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE
An annual general meeting was held on 18 August 2023 during the year
ended 31 March 2024 with all Directors present throughout the meeting.
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NUMBER OF BOARD MEETINGS AND DIRECTORS’
ATTENDANCE

6 Board meetings were respectively held on 23 June 2023, 9 August
2023, 8 November 2023, 22 November 2023, 21 December 2023, and
5 February 2024 during the year ended 31 March 2024. The individual
attendance record of the Board meetings is set out as follows:

EEESBRURESZHERR

EEEREE_T_MNF=A=+t—HILFE

ADPIR-_E-_=ZF<A-+=H —T_=F
NANB ZE-=ZF+—AN\B - ZT=-_=F
+—A=Z+=ZB -ZEZ=F+ZA=+-HK

TECNF-_ARABATAANEHE EFTSY
ZHEBESHELRERIOT

Number of Board Meetings
attended/eligible to attend

BHE/RERLRE
Name of Directors A EEEEEMNHE
Mr. Kwong Chi Man BT E 6/6
Mr. Yip Kong Lok ERgtr s 6/6
Ms. Yu Wan Wah Amparo FHRELL 6/6
Mr. Law Pui Cheung BmELE 5/6
Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan i e 5/6
Ms. To Yee Man HERELL 1/1

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is also responsible for the corporate governance functions
under code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code. For the year ended 31
March 2024, the Board has reviewed and discussed the corporate
governance policies of the Group, the Group’s compliance with the CG
Code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report. The Board
is satisfied with the implementation and effectiveness of the corporate
governance policies of the Group.

FUNCTIONS OF THE BOARD AND MANAGEMENT

The Board supervises the management of the business and affairs of
the Company and ensures that it is managed in the best interests of the
Shareholders as a whole while taking into account the interest of other
stakeholders. The Board is primarily responsible for formulating the
business strategy, reviewing and monitoring the business performance
of the Group, reviewing and approving the financial statements and
annual budgets as well as directing and supervising the management of
the Company. Execution of operational matters and the powers thereof
are delegated to the management by the Board with clear directions.
The Board is regularly provided with management report to give a
balanced and understandable assessment of the performance, position,
recent development and prospect of the Group in sufficient details.
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TRAINING OF DIRECTORS AND PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

To assist the Directors’ continuing professional development, the
Company recommends Directors to attend relevant seminars to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills. The Directors also participate
in continuous professional development programmes such as external
seminars and forums organised by qualified professionals, to develop
and refresh their knowledge as to the industry and skills in relation to
their contribution to the Board.

All the Directors understand the importance of continuous professional
development and are committed to participate any suitable training to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.

The Company has maintained the training record in respect of each
Director. There are also arrangements in place for providing continuing
briefing and professional development to Directors by the Company
whenever necessary.

The induvial training records of professional development received by
the Directors for the year ended 31 March 2024 are summarised as
follows:
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Types of training (note)

Name of Directors EBnE SR E A (P E)
Mr. Kwong Chi Man B A A A B
Mr. Yip Kong Lok ERgLE A B
Ms. Yu Wan Wah Amparo REBELL AB
Mr. Law Pui Cheung BHELE A B
Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan fE BERT o 4 A B
Ms. To Yee Man HERELL A B
Note: B 5

Types of training BIER

A:  Attending training sessions, such as seminars, conferences, forums and  A: HEEIIERE - WEE  HTE  wERIES

workshops

B:  Reading news alerts, newspapers, articles, journals, magazines and
publications relating to update on business operations, industry, cooperate
governance matters and other regulatory requirements/developments
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four Board committees, namely, the audit
committee, the remuneration committee, the nomination committee and
the legal compliance committee, for overseeing particular aspects of
the Company’s affairs. All Board committees have been established with
their respective written terms of reference. All the Board committees
should report to the Board on their decisions and works. The practices,
procedures and arrangements of conduct of committee meetings follow
in line with, so far as practicable, those of the Board meetings and their
respective terms of reference.

All Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to
perform their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company's expenses.

Audit Committee

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) was
established on 24 September 2016 with its written terms of reference in
compliance with Rule 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules and code provision
D.3.3 of the CG Code. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are
to review and supervise the Company'’s financial reporting process and
internal control system, nominate and monitor external auditors and
to provide advice and comments to the Board on matters related to
corporate governance.

The Audit Committee consists of three members, being Mr. Law Pui

Cheung, Ms. Yu Wan Wah Amparo and Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan. Mr. Law
Pui Cheung currently serves as the chairman of the Audit Committee.
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4 Audit Committee meetings were respectively held on 23 June 2023,
9 August 2023, 8 November 2023, and 5 February 2024 during the
year ended 31 March 2024. The individual attendance record of the
meetings of the Audit Committee is set out as follows:

& % B oA
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ENEEeREE_E_ME=-A=1+—HR1L%
EASRRZE-_=FA=-+=HA ===
FNANE  ZE-=F+—AN\BRZZE-N
FZARBAEATHREE ERZEZEETEREN
ERIKE L ELHEHINMAT -

Number of meetings of the
Audit Committee
attended/eligible to attend

BHESEBLE
Name of Directors EEnE EREESERNEE
Mr. Law Pui Cheung EHERE 4/4
Ms. Yu Wan Wah Amparo REELT 4/4
Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan R RERT S 3/4

In performing its responsibilities set out in the CG Code and its terms
of reference, the Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s quarterly,
half-yearly, and annual financial reports, and results announcements, to
ensure integrity, transparency, and consistency of the relevant financial
disclosures.

In addition, the Audit Committee regularly considered matters regarding
the Group’s internal audit, internal control system, and the risk
management system. This includes the review of resources adequacy,
staff qualifications and experience, training programs and budget for
internal audit, accounting and financial reporting functions.

Remuneration Committee

The remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee”) was established on 24 September 2016 with its written
terms of reference in compliance with Rule 5.34 of the GEM Listing
Rules and code provision E.1.2 of the CG Code. The primary duties of
the Remuneration Committee are to review and make recommendations
to the Board with regard to the share option scheme, approve the
proposed terms of any share option scheme, make recommendations
to the board on the remuneration policy and structure of the Directors
and senior management of the Group, and determine, with delegated
responsibilities from the Board, the remuneration packages of individual
Directors and senior management of the Company.
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The Remuneration Committee consists of three members, being
Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan, Mr. Kwong Chi Man and Ms. Yu Wan Wah
Amparo. Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan currently serves as the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee.

2 Remuneration Committee meetings were held on 9 August 2023 and
5 February 2024 for the year ended 31 March 2024. The individual
attendance record of the meetings of the Remuneration Committee is
set out as follows:

FMEREem=2REAN  DRIRERENFL
EOBEXEERRBRELL - BERFEERD
FHZEEETR -

SNEZEgREE-_T-_NE=-A=-1+—ALHF
EARZZE_=FNANBER-T-NF=-AA
BRITTMAgE FTMEZEegaERKE
HE P T

Number of meetings of
the Remuneration Committee
attended/eligible to attend

BHE/GERLRE
Name of Directors EEnE FMEEEERNEE
Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan JERERT A 2/2
Mr. Kwong Chi Man BRETE 2/2
Ms. Yu Wan Wah Amparo REBELT 2/2

In relation to the Group’s remuneration policy, the Directors and
senior management of the Company receive compensation in the
form of director fees, salaries, benefits in kind and/or discretionary
bonuses with reference to those paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and the performance of the Group. The Remuneration
Committee regularly reviews and determines, with delegated
responsibilities from the Board, the remuneration and compensation
packages of individual Directors and senior management by reference
to, among other things, market level of remuneration and compensation
paid by comparable companies, the respective responsibilities of the
Directors and the performance of the Group.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and senior management
by band are set out in Notes 23 and 28 to the consolidated financial
statements in this report.

Nomination Committee

The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”) was established on 24 September 2016 with its written
terms of reference in compliance with Rule 5.36A of the GEM Listing
Rules and code provision B.3.1 of the CG Code. The primary duties of
the Nomination Committee are to make recommendations to the Board
regarding candidates to fill vacancies on the Board and/or in senior
management of the Company.
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The Nomination Committee considers a number of factors in assessing,
evaluating and selecting candidates for the directorships based on
the Group’s nomination policy. These factors include (i) character
and integrity; (ii) qualifications and experience that are relevant to the
Company’s business and strategy; (iii) commitment to devote sufficient
time to discharge the duties as a member of the Board and other
directorship; (iv) diversity in all aspects in order to achieve the diversity
of the Board;
independence guidelines set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules

(v) independence requirement with reference to the

when evaluating the suitability of the candidates to be INEDs; and (vi)
such other factors which are appropriate to the Company’s business
and strategy.

The Nomination Committee consists of three members, being Mr. Kwong
Chi Man, Ms. Yu Wan Wah Amparo and Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan.
Mr. Kwong Chi Man currently serves as the chairman of the Nomination
Committee.

2 Nomination Committee meetings were held on 23 June 2023 and 5
February 2024 during the year ended 31 March 2024. The individual
attendance record of the meetings of the Nomination Committee is set
out as follows:
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Number of meetings of
the Nomination Committee
attended/eligible to attend

BHE/AEREE
Name of Directors EEEE REZESEEMNEE
Mr. Kwong Chi Man BEXEE 2/2
Ms. Yu Wan Wah Amparo RBEZT 2/2
Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan JEBERT LA 2/2
Legal Compliance Committee EEREREES
The legal compliance committee of the Company (the ‘Legal ZARAFEEAHEES (f‘}i@AiﬁﬁééJ)ﬁé‘
Compliance Committee”) was established on 24 September 2016 with —Z— X XFAA-FTNBEKY  EEZEBESE
its written terms of reference by reference to the code provisions of ZQRBAEEATAMTEIEY - FEAHEES

the CG Code. The primary duties of the Legal Compliance Committee
are to assist the Board in overseeing the Group’s compliance with laws
and regulations relevant to its business operations and to review the
effectiveness of the Group’s regulatory compliance procedures and
system.
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The Legal Compliance Committee consists of three members, being
Ms. Yu Wan Wah Amparo, Mr. Law Pui Cheung and Mr. Wat Danny Hiu
Yan. Ms. Yu Wan Wah Amparo currently serves as the chairlady of the
Legal Compliance Committee.

One Legal Compliance Committee meeting was held on 5 February
2024 during the year ended 31 March 2024. The individual attendance
record of the meeting of the Legal Compliance Committee is set out as
follows:
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Number of meetings of

the Legal Compliance Committee
attended/eligible to attend
BHE/RERLRE

Name of Directors EEpsg FEEREEEERNEE
Ms. Yu Wan Wah Amparo FHBELL 11
Mr. Law Pui Cheung EMERE 1/1
Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan JERERT S 0/1

DIVERSITY OF THE BOARD

In order to ensure the balanced composition and effectiveness of the
Board, the Company has accordingly adopted a Board diversity policy
(the “Board Diversity Policy”), which sets out the approach to achieve
diversity on the Board. The Company seeks to achieve Board diversity
through the consideration of a number of factors, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skill, knowledge and length of service. The
Board appointments will be based on the performance and competence
of the candidates, and the merit and contribution to be brought to the
Board by the selected candidates.

The Board will review such objectives from time to time to ensure their
appropriateness and ascertain the progress made towards achieving
those objectives. The Nomination Committee will review the Board
Diversity Policy from time to time to ensure its continued effectiveness.
The existing Board members are coming from a variety of business
and professional background, the Company considers that the Board
possesses a balance of skills, experience, expertise and diversity
of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s
business.
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The Nomination Committee will report annually on the Board’s
composition under diversified perspectives in the Corporate
Governance Report, and monitor the implementation of the diversity
policy to ensure its effectiveness and compliance with the CG Code.
The Nomination Committee will consider any revisions that may be
required and propose recommendation to the Board for consideration
and approval. The Company will continue to maintain gender diversity
on the Board. As of the date of this report, there were 2 female directors
on the Board. The Board would like to maintain at least the current level
of female membership. The Nomination Committee will actively consider
increasing the proportion of female members when selecting suitable
candidates for the Board and making recommendations. Through
the Company’s Board diversity policy and the annual review of the
Board’s structure by the Nomination Committee under the Board, the
Company will establish a pipeline of potential director successors that
can achieve gender diversity. The Company will also strive to achieve
gender diversity when recruiting employees at all levels (including
middle and senior levels).

INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK ASSESSMENT

The Board is responsible for the Group’s internal control. In
accordance with code provision D.2.1 of the CG Code, the Directors
have conducted an annual review of the effectiveness of the internal
control of the Group, including financial, operational and compliance
controls and risk management functions during the reporting period. No
material inadequacy of internal controls has been revealed in terms of
risk management in the Group’s decision-making process. The Board
is of the opinion that the Company has fully complied with the code
provisions regarding risk management and internal control in the CG
Code. The risk management and internal control systems are effective
and adequate.

A staff in the finance department was assigned to perform the internal
audit functions as part of her job and she reports the audit’s findings
to the Audit Committee. She mainly reviews and tests the control of the
Group’s major operational, financial, compliance and risk management
based on the Group’s policies. She communicates the findings, control
deficiencies and remedial actions with the management and Audit
Committee for improvement of the Group’s internal control system.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group has (i) reviewed
and tested the control of (a) human resource and payroll process; and
(b) cash and treasury management; and (ii) reviewed the procedure
of information technology security measures. The internal audit staff
reported that the Group consistently complied with relevant policies and
procedures. Suggestions were made to the Audit Committee and the
management has implemented certain follow-up measures based on the
internal audit findings.

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED & X i &

it ¥ B B

ﬁd:

REZBERELRERBRETUSLILARE
BEREEFENAR  TERSTERENE
it AEREARUENLETEEERTA - %
ZEEREEARFTENTAE]  LAEFS
RUZZ  UHBEZRHE - ARABEBRE
gxglnzl - @§$ﬁ¢5%'§$ﬁﬁ

MEXMES BEEGHFLEVBFFE ALK
BHILLH) - k%é,\afﬁé%’*ﬁtkmmmﬂ%
EALIR L RER - SRR B B
Hhl - BRARAMNEEEZTIBRNRESS
T?&E’J%%im@%ﬁi‘;%%%iﬁ%% g

NEBETAERERZ T L EEEEHITE
RE - ARRRBEZFET (BRFPEEET)
B S HERMERNZ T -

PP EE 12 I B B R A
EZRBAREMAMEE - REGXERT
BID2 12 RE  EECHAKBE A EZN
ﬁﬁiﬁltﬁﬁﬁgﬁﬂ CBEENREHRNTE - &
ERAMEENNEREZRE - LEZRA
EREASERRARTORMEETEA TR
BANRZE - EZFERRARACE2AETE
KBRS RI AT E 0 [ fe B IR M A B0 B 9E T R R
X-BEBREERABEZERERATE -

EZECZ R AMBHANBETAENTAE
ErfBEE RANERZEGREEENER -
{BZIKEEETFK‘EIE‘][Ekﬁﬂzli‘ilﬁﬁig.g.

(B ARREREEETEEMAR o &
ﬁ EEERERZESEEHAENER BEET
B 7 BR B A IE #8 HE DA AU 7R 5 1B B I BB B 4 o
o

BE_Z-_ME=A=1+—HLFE F5EE
(WEEFAHA@ANERREFHRE k()R
& REFEENEE UR(INVERENRRE 2
BEMNEF APEFABREE  AEEHE
BREABHENER - RUERBEZZESED
BE MEREERBABEFERERETR
HEEE -



30

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

it ¥ & B ® &

The Group has adopted whistleblowing policy to encourage employees
of the Group and those who deal with the Group to report and disclose
allegations of suspected misconduct and improper activities within the
Group to ensure good corporate governance and high standards on
business conduct and ethics. The policy is administered by the Audit
Committee which ensures that appropriate arrangements such as
proper investigation and reporting processes are in place for incidents
of misconducts and improprieties.

The Group has also adopted anti-corruption policy to ensure
zero-tolerance against all forms of corruption and bribery. The said
policy outlines proper business ethics, appropriate disclosures
requirements as well as investigation and reporting procedures which
are expected to be followed by all directors, employees and secondees
of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

All Directors acknowledge their responsibilities to prepare the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and
of the results and cash flows for that year. The Directors continue
to adopt the going concern approach in preparing the consolidated
financial statements and are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company'’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The responsibilities of the external auditors about their financial
reporting are set out in the independent auditor’s report attached to
the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2024 in this report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the remuneration paid or payable
to PricewaterhouseCoopers (as the auditors of the Company) and its
affiliate companies in respect of audit and non-audit services were
HK$1,080,000 and HK$63,500 respectively.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Group has established its dividend policy in compliance with code
provision F.1.1 of the CG Code, which aims to provide a transparency
of the mechanism used for determination of the dividend amount and
payment as well as to notify Shareholders and other persons concerned
of the dividend policy of the Group. It broadly specifies the external and
internal factors, including financial parameters, that shall be considered
while declaring dividend and the circumstances under which the
Shareholders of the Group may or may not expect dividend and how the
retained earnings shall be utilised.

The Board will review and monitor the implementation of the Group'’s
dividend policy from time to time.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Choi Wai Hung (“Mr. Choi”), an employee of the Company, was
appointed by the Board as the secretary of the Company on 15
December 2017. The biographical details of Mr. Choi are set out under
the section headed “Profile of Directors and Senior Management” in this
report. Mr. Choi is principally responsible for supervision of the Group's
financial reporting, financial planning, treasury, financial control and
company secretarial matters.

Mr. Choi had confirmed that he had taken no less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training in accordance with Rule 5.15 of the GEM
Listing Rules during the year ended 31 March 2024.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT

Convening of Extraordinary General Meeting on Requisition by
Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 12.3 of the Articles, the Board may, whenever it
thinks fit, convene an extraordinary general meeting (“EGM”). EGMs
shall also be convened on the requisition of two or more Shareholders
holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one-tenth
of the paid-up capital of the Company having the right of voting at
general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board
or the company secretary of the Company for the purpose of requiring
an EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition, and such meeting shall be held within 3
months after the deposit of such requisition. If, within 21 days of such
deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting within a
further 21 days, the requisitionists themselves may convene a meeting
in accordance with the Articles and all reasonable expenses incurred
by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisition(s) by the Company.
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Right to put enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders may
send their written enquiries or requests in respect of their rights to the
Company'’s principal place of business in Hong Kong.

Procedure for shareholders to put forward proposals at
shareholders’ meetings

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to move new resolutions
at the general meetings of the Company under the Companies Law
(Revised) of Cayman Islands. However, pursuant to the Articles,
Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may by means of
requisition convene an EGM following the procedures set out above.

RELATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS

The Group uses several formal channels to ensure fair disclosure
and comprehensive and transparent reporting of its performance and
activities.

The Company’s annual, interim and quarterly reports and circulars are
printed and sent to all Shareholders. Announcements, reports, circulars,
publications and press releases of the Company are published on
the Company’s website at www.kmk.com.hk. The Company’s website
disseminates corporate information and other relevant financial and
non-financial information electronically on a timely basis.

The Company acknowledges that general meetings are good
communication channel with Shareholders. The Directors and the
members of the Board committees are encouraged to attend and
answer questions raised by Shareholders at the general meetings.

The Company has adopted its shareholder communication policy in
order to enable Shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed
manner, and also to allow Shareholders and the investors to strengthen
the communication with the Company. The Company is committed to
promoting and maintaining effective communication with Shareholders
and other stakeholders. The Board is committed to ensuring that the
Shareholders are provided with ready, equal and timely access to
balanced and understandable information about the Company. The
Group will continuously ensure the effectiveness and timeliness of
information disclosure to Shareholders and investors.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 31 March 2024, there has been no significant
change in the Company’s constitutional documents.
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The Board hereby present the Directors’ report and the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is the investment holding company of the Group. The
Group is principally engaged in car park flooring industry in Hong
Kong and Macau. We provide (i) flooring services, which involve
the application of proprietary floor coating products for the purpose
of providing a colorful, slip-resistance, hard wearing surface that is
resistant against water and petrochemicals; (ii) ancillary services, which
include specialised texture painting and waterproofing works; and (iii)
sales of flooring and waterproofing materials.

For further particulars of the subsidiaries of the Group, details of which
are set out in Note 31(a) to the consolidated financial statements in this
report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

For the development, performance or position of the Group’s business,
details are set out in the section headed “Chairman’s Statement” on
pages 5 to 6 and the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on pages 11 to 17 of this report.

For the principal financial risks and uncertainties facing the Company,
details are set out in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements in
this report.

(A) Environmental policies and performance
The Board is aware that addressing environmental concerns is an
important issue for contributing to the continuous development of
society (along with the business activities of the Company).

The Group’s operation is not subject to any environmental
requirements in Hong Kong, except the Dangerous Goods
Ordinance (Chapter 295 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the
‘Dangerous Goods Ordinance”), and that some of the works
conducted by the Group are subject to environmental compliance
examination under the Hong Kong Green Building Council’s “BEAM
Plus” scheme. The Group has established effective environmental
management system in conformity with the international standard
requirements, for the provision of design, construction, installation
and maintenance services to the customers.
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An environmental policy and manual of procedures have been
effective upon listing of the shares of the Company on GEM, which
demonstrate the Group’s commitment to environmental protection.
All staff, subcontractors and suppliers are required to diligently
implement the policy and the manual, which will be reviewed
regularly in light of experience, feedback from staff, business
development, current regulations and legislation.

Compliance with laws and regulations with a significant impact
on the Group

Apart from the licensing requirement under the Dangerous Goods
Ordinance, the Group is not subject to any requirement to obtain
any particular approval or permit for carrying out the car park
flooring business in Hong Kong. The Dangerous Goods Ordinance
controls the usage, storage, manufacturing and conveyance of the
dangerous goods and sets out the relevant licensing requirements
in relation to these activities.

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by its subsidiaries in
Hong Kong and Macau with the Company itself incorporated in the
Cayman lIslands.

To the best knowledge and belief of the Directors, the Group’s
operations in Hong Kong and Macau have complied with the
applicable laws and regulations in the above jurisdictions in all
material respects during the year ended 31 March 2024, and up to
the date of this report.

Key relationships with employees, customers, suppliers and
subcontractors

The Directors are of the view that the Company has maintained
good relationship with its employees, customers, suppliers and
subcontractors. During the year ended 31 March 2024, there
was no material or significant dispute between the Group and its
employees, customers, suppliers and subcontractors.
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RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024 are
presented in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on
page 59 of this report.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, a final dividend of HK1 cent
per share of the Company (the “Share(s)”) was declared to the
Shareholders of the Company.

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK1 cent
per share for the year ended 31 March 2024, subject to the approval of
the Shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting scheduled
on 23 August 2024 (the “AGM”).

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The Company will hold the AGM on 23 August 2024. Notice of the AGM
will be published and dispatched to the Shareholders in accordance
with the articles of association of the Company and the GEM Listing
Rules in due course.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM, the
register of members of the Company will be closed from 20 August
2024 to 23 August 2024, both dates inclusive, during which period no
transfer of Shares will be effected. In order to be eligible to attend and
vote at the AGM, unregistered holders of shares of the Company will
ensure that all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar
and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited,
at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for
registration not later than 4:30 pm on 19 August 2024.

For determining the entitlement to the proposed final dividend, the
register of members of the Company will be closed from 3 September
2024 to 6 September 2024, both dates inclusive, during which period no
transfer of Shares will be registered. Only Shareholders whose names
appear on the register of members of the Company on 6 September
2024 are entitled to the proposed final dividend payable on or about
3 October 2024. In order to qualify for the entitlement to the proposed
final dividend, unregistered holders of shares of the Company will
ensure that all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar
and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited,
at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for
registration not later than 4:30 pm on 2 September 2024.
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the years ended 31 March 2020, 2021, 2022, 2023 and 2024 are set
out on page 140 of this report. Such summary does not form part of the
consolidated financial statements in this report.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the significant related party transactions entered into by the
Group during the year ended 31 March 2024 are set out in Note 30 to
the consolidated financial statements in this report. These transactions
did not constitute connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions which were required to comply with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules
during the financial year.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during the
year ended 31 March 2024 are set out in Note 16 to the consolidated
financial statements in this report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
the Company or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to its existing
Shareholders.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company conditionally adopted a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) on 24 September 2016 (the “Adoption Date”). The
terms of the Share Option Scheme are in accordance with the provisions

of Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules. The following is a summary of

the principal terms and conditions of the Share Option Scheme.

(i)

(i)

(iii)

Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to attract and retain
the best available personnel, to provide additional incentive
to employees (full-time and part-time), directors, consultants,
advisers, distributors, contractors, suppliers, agents, customers,
business partners and services providers of the Group and to
promote the success of the business of the Group.

Who may join and basis of eligibility

The Board may, at its absolute discretion and on such terms
as it may think fit, grant any employee (full-time or part-time),
director, consultant or adviser of the Group, or any substantial
shareholder of the Group, or any distributor, contractor, supplier,
agent, customer, business partner or service provider of the
Group, options to subscribe at a price calculated in accordance
with paragraph (iii) below for such number of Shares as it may
determine in accordance with the terms of the Share Option
Scheme. The basis of eligibility of any participant to the grant of
any option shall be determined by the Board (or as the case may
be, the INEDs) from time to time on the basis of his contribution or
potential contribution to the development and growth of the Group.

Price of Shares

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular
option granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be a price
solely determined by the Board and notified to a participant and
shall be at least the highest of: (i) the closing price of the Shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the
date of grant of the option, which must be a business day; (ii) the
average of the closing prices of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant of the option; and (iii) the
nominal value of a Share on the date of grant of the option.
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(iv) Grant of options and acceptance of offers

(v)

An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within seven

days inclusive of the day on which such offer was made. The

amount payable by the grantee of an option to the Company on

acceptance of the offer for the grant of an option is HK$1.00.

Maximum number of Shares

1.

subject to sub-paragraphs (2) and (3) below, the maximum
number of Shares issuable upon exercise of all options to be
granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company as from the Adoption Date
(excluding, for this purpose, Shares issuable upon exercise
of options which have been granted but which have lapsed
in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme
or any other share option schemes of the Company) must
not in aggregate exceed 10% of all the Shares in issue.
Therefore, the Company may grant options in respect of up to
60,000,000 Shares (or such numbers of Shares as shall result
from a sub-division or a consolidation of such 60,000,000
Shares from time to time) to the participants under the Share
Option Scheme.

The 10% limit as mentioned above may be refreshed at
any time by obtaining approval of the Shareholders in
general meeting provided that the total number of Shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be
granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company must not exceed
10% of the Shares in issue as at the date of approval of the
refreshed limit. Options previously granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company (including those outstanding, cancelled or lapsed
in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme
or any other share option schemes of the Company) will not
be counted for the purpose of calculating the refreshed 10%
limit. A circular must be sent to the Shareholders containing
the information as required under the GEM Listing Rules in
this regard.
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3. The Company may seek separate approval of the
Shareholders in general meeting for granting options beyond
the 10% limit provided the options in excess of the 10% limit
are granted only to grantees specifically identified by the
Company before such approval is sought. In such event, the
Company must send a circular to the Shareholders containing
a generic description of such grantees, the number and terms
of such options to be granted and the purpose of granting
options to them with an explanation as to how the terms of
the options will serve such purpose, such other information
required under the GEM Listing Rules.

4. The aggregate number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company must not exceed 30%
of the Shares in issue from time to time. No options may be
granted under the Share Option Scheme or any other share
option schemes of the Company if this will result in such 30%
limit being exceeded.

(vi) Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of options granted to any participant (including both exercised
and outstanding options) under the Share Option Scheme, in any
12-month period up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the
Shares in issue. Any further grant of options in excess of such limit
must be separately approved by Shareholders in general meeting
with such grantee and his close associates (or his associates if
the grantee is a connected person) abstaining from voting. In
such event, the Company must send a circular to the Shareholders
containing the identity of the grantee, the number and terms of
the options to be granted (and options previously granted to such
grantee), and all other information required under the GEM Listing
Rules. The number and terms (including the subscription price) of
the options to be granted must be fixed before the approval of the
Shareholders and the date of the Board meeting proposing such
further grant should be taken as the date of grant for the purpose
of calculating the subscription price.
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(vii) Time of exercise of option
An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme at any time during a period as the Board
may determine which shall not exceed ten years from the date of
grant subject to the provisions of early termination thereof.

(viii) Period of the Share Option Scheme
The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of ten
years commencing on the date on the Adoption Date and shall
expire at the close of business on the business day immediately
preceding the tenth anniversary thereof unless terminated earlier
by the Shareholders in general meeting.

No share option has been granted or exercised under the Share Option
Scheme during the year ended 31 March 2024. No share option was
outstanding as at 31 March 2024.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE SHARES

For the year 31 March 2024, the Company had publicly bought back
and cancelled 2,556,000 ordinary shares of the Company, representing
0.43% of the Company’s existing number of issued shares, in December
2023. The repurchase made was on 13 December 2023. The price per
share, or highest price paid, and the lowest price paid, was HK$0.39
per share. The total price paid was HK$996,840. The number of issued
Shares as of 31 March 2024 was 597,444,000. The Directors believe
this repurchase may lead to an enhancement of the Company’s net
asset value per Share and/or earnings per Share and the Directors
consider that such repurchase will benefit the Company and the
Shareholders.

Except for the aforementioned listing securities (having the meaning
ascribed by the Listing Rules), for the year ended 31 March 2024,
the Company and its subsidiaries had no other purchase, sale, or
redemption of the listed securities of the Company.
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DEBENTURE
No debenture was issued by the Company during the year ended 31
March 2024.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Save as the share option scheme as disclosed in the paragraph headed
“Share Option Scheme” in this Directors’ report, no equity-linked
agreement was entered into by the Company or subsisted during the
year ended 31 March 2024 which (i) will or may result in the Company
issuing shares; or (ii) requires the Company to enter into an agreement
that will or may result in the Company issuing shares were entered into
by the Company.

DONATION
The charitable donation made by the Group for the year ended 31
March 2024 amounted to approximately HK$50,000.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles, each Director shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses or
liabilities incurred or sustained by him/her as a Director in defending
any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which judgment is given in
his/her favour, or in which he/she is acquitted.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of
claims and legal actions against the Directors and its officers.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

(A) Directors’ and chief executives’ interests and short positions
in the Shares, underlying Shares and debenture of the
Company or any associated corporation
As at 31 March 2024, the interests or short positions of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any of the
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities & Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (the “SFO”)) which were notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including any interests or short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or
which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein, or which were required,
pursuant to the Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating
to securities transactions by the Directors, to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

BEKE
(A) EERESTBRAERALD A EMAEE

FENRD HEROREEZTEEN
EERKRE

RZZE-_WNE=ZA=+—H ARAEE
S &EmTHRABRAR R SR B EE
(EERBBENESNEZL R PEED
((EHERBERH ) EXVED) K8 - 18R
Bin REEFET - BHEREE %&Hﬂaﬂ%
FIEXVEBETRED BAEG AR R KB
MERRAR (B %ﬂﬁﬁmﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬂ\ﬂﬂm
BENEEREESIERAERNTMAE
BRKE)  FIREEH R BAEKHIE352
ﬂ%ﬁﬂﬁaﬁé%%wﬁaE@%aaﬂmm&*ﬁéﬁi
AR kIR EGEM E T Bl 555,46 25.67
1*ﬁf‘ﬁé$sﬁﬁ AR HMANE KD A
RERAOERRABNAT

Long Position in the Shares RIR G E
Number of Approximate
shares held percentage of
Name of Director Nature of interest or interested shareholding
FEYEEEDR
BEnE EEME HRHBE BARER DL
Mr. Kwong Chi Man Interest in controlled 392,886,000 65.76%
(“Mr. Kwong") corporation (Note 1)
BEX R (BEE]) RESER 2 B (A1)

Note 1: Mr. Kwong beneficially owns 70% of the issued share capital
of Sage City Investments Limited (“Sage City”), the beneficial
owner holding 65.76% shareholding in the Company. Therefore,
Mr. Kwong is deemed to be interested in all the Shares which
are beneficially owned by Sage City for the purpose of the SFO.
Mr. Kwong is the chairman and an executive Director of the

Company, and also a director of Sage City.
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Long position in the shares of associated corporation

Name of Director Nature of interest
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RIGBZER (7 94 B

Number of
shares held
or interested
in associated Percentage of

corporation shareholding

BFEREEREN
EEpsg BEME HEEERD A BREBDL
Mr. Yip Kong Lok (“Mr. Yip") Beneficial owner (Note 2) 3,000 shares 30%
in Sage City in Sage City
EASEE(EEE]) EmBEAWZ2) #Sage City#y 7 Sage City#Y
3,000 % 7 30% M &

Note 2: Mr. Yip is an executive Director and chief executive officer of the

Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company had any interests and
short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures
of the Company or any of the associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which would have to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and
8 of Part XV of the SFO (including any interests or short positions
which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO) or which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the
SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, or which were
required, pursuant to the Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules relating to securities transactions by the Directors, to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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(B) Substantial Shareholders’ and other persons’

= 8 8 &

interests
and short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares and
debenture of the Company

So far as the Directors or the chief executive were aware, as at
31 March 2024, the following persons (other than the Directors or
chief executive of the Company) had interests or short positions in
the Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed
to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in
the register of interests required to be kept under section 336 of
the SFO:

Long Position in the Shares

(B) TERRRHEMALEALARY - HE

BRORERETHRENESZR AR

REZFNHZRSTHRARMA R-_F-N
FZA=1+—H UFTAL(LFARAE
FRESTHAR) R SaRR O H %

BIREE %%&E;ﬁ {IMEIJ%XV*B%Z&C%“*
ESUBR AR R 5 22 BT % 58 B0 R 25 I 0K

B E}ZEi‘EEEBMETJ““‘D#&%‘éﬂ%ﬁﬂ%%fﬂ
GRRAFENESECMANERIAE

RR (B4 E
Number of Approximate
shares held percentage of

Name Nature of interest or interested shareholding
BEDEAREREN
H"H EEME RoEE BAREE
Sage City Beneficial interest (Note 1) 392,886,000 65.76%
EwnlEn (M)

Ms. Li Chuen Chun Interest of spouse (Note 2) 392,886,000 65.76%

EEY L foBiEs (Wit2)

Notes: [

1, Sage City is a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands 1. Sage CityJyi 5 B g 2 B S LM AL
and is owned by Mr. Kwong and Mr. Yip as to 70% and 30%, BRF] - WHBEEREREDFES
respectively. Mr. Kwong is the chairman, an executive Director 70%K30% s o BEERBRAER

of the Company, and also a director of Sage City. Mr. Yip is an

executive Director and chief executive officer of the Company.

2. Ms. Li Chuen Chun is the spouse of Mr. Kwong and is deemed to
be interested in all the Shares in which Mr. Kwong is interested for

the purposes of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, the Company has
not been notified by any persons (other than the Directors or chief
executive of the Company) who had interests or short positions in
the Shares or underlying Shares of the Company which would fall
to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were required to be recorded
in the register of interests required to be kept by the Company
under section 336 of the SFO.
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DIRECTORS AND THEIR SERVICE CONTRACTS
The composition of the Board up to the date of this report is set out as
follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Kwong Chi Man (Chairman)
(re-elected on 26 August 2022)

Mr. Yip Kong Lok (Chief Executive Officer)
(re-elected on 26 August 2022)

Independent non-executive Directors

Ms. Yu Wan Wah Amparo (re-elected on 18 August 2023)
Mr. Law Pui Cheung (re-elected on 18 August 2023)

Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan (re-elected on 18 August 2023)
Ms. To Yee Man (appointed on 5 February 2024)

Each Director has entered into a service agreement or letter of
appointment with the Company for a fixed term of three years and will
continue thereafter until terminated by either party giving not less than
three months’ written notice to the other party.

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section headed
“Profile of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 7 to 10 of this
report.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
from each of the INEDs pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.
The Company considers the INEDs to be independent as at the date of
this report.

None of the Directors has entered into any service agreement with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation (other than
statutory compensation).

EMOLUMENT OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE FIVE HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emolument of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of the Group are set out in Notes 23 and 28 to the
consolidated financial statements in this report.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The remuneration committee of the Board will make recommendations
on the remuneration policy and structure of the Directors and senior
management. The remuneration committee regularly reviews and
determines, with delegated responsibilities from the Board, the
remuneration and compensation packages of individual Directors and
senior management by reference to, among other things, market level
of remuneration and compensation paid by comparable companies, the
respective responsibilities of the Directors and the performance of the
Group.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT

Save as the transactions set out in Note 30 to the consolidated
financial statements in this report, the Group has not entered into any
transaction, arrangement or contract that is significant in relation to the
Group’s business to which any of member of the Group was a party and
in which a Director or a connected entity of that Director had, directly or
indirectly, a material interest.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Other than members of the Group, none of the Directors or their
respective close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) has
interest in any business which competes or is likely to compete, directly
or indirectly, with the business of the Group.

INTEREST OF CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

Save as disclosed in this report, the Directors are not aware of any
business or interest of the controlling shareholder of the Company nor
any of their respective associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules)
that compete or may compete with the business of the Group and any
other conlflicts of interest which any such person has or may have with
the Group during the year ended 31 March 2024.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

Each of Mr. Kwong and Sage City (together the “Covenantors”) entered
into a deed of non-competition in favour of the Group (the “Deed of
Non-competition”) on 24 September 2016, details of which are set out
in the section headed “Relationship with Our Controlling Shareholders
- Deed of non-competition” in the Prospectus (the “Non-competition
Undertaking”).
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The Company received from each of the Covenantors an annual
confirmation on their respective compliance of the Non-competition
Undertaking. The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed
the compliance of the Non-competition Undertaking and evaluated the
effective implementation of the Deed of Non-competition, and they were
satisfied with the Covenantors’ compliance with the Non-competition
Undertaking for the year ended 31 March 2024.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

During the year ended 31 March 2024, neither the Company nor
its subsidiaries has entered into a contract by which (a) a person
undertakes the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Company; and (b) the contract is
not a contract of service with any Director or any person engaged in the
full-time employment of the Company.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for approximately 57% of the total revenue of the Group and
the largest customer of the Group accounted for approximately 27% of
the total revenue.

To the best of the knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors or
any of their respective close associates, or any shareholder (which to
the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital) had any interest in the Group’s five largest
customers.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND SUBCONTRACTORS

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group’s five largest suppliers
and subcontractors accounted for approximately 73% of the total direct
costs of the Group and the largest supplier and subcontractor of the
Group accounted for approximately 45% of the total direct costs.

To the best of the knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors or
any of their respective close associates, or any Shareholder (which to
the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital) had any interest in the Group’s five largest
suppliers and subcontractors.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE

The environmental, social and governance report of the Company for
the year ended 31 March 2024 will be published in July 2024 based on
the Group’s ESG Code in compliance with the requirements of Appendix
C2 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The corporate governance report of the Company for the year ended 31
March 2024 is set out on pages 18 to 32 of this report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this report, the
public float of the Company’s issued securities is sufficient with at least
25% held by the public.

SUBSIDIARIES
Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 31(a)
to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2024, the Company'’s reserves available for distribution
to the Shareholders, calculated in accordance with the Companies Law
of the Cayman Islands, amounted to approximately HK$58.8 million.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2024 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC”). PwC
will retire, and being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at
the AGM. A resolution for their re-appointment as the auditor of the
Company will be proposed at the AGM.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
The Board is not aware of any events after the reporting period that
requires disclosure.

By order of the Board
Kwong Man Kee Group Limited
Mr. Kwong Chi Man

Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 26 June 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

e
pwc

To the Shareholders of Kwong Man Kee Group Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Kwong Man Kee Group Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out on
pages 57 to 139, comprise:

o the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March
2024;

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year
then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended;

° the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

e the notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising
material accounting policy information and other explanatory
information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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BASIS FOR OPINION (Continued)
Independence

BRNER (&)
Bt

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's RIEFREBeHMASEAN(ELe i MEET
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have  BI) (LA TERE[TI]) - ZRABYR EEE -
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. WEBITFAIPHNEMEEEEEME -

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

BRETSRE

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, RBIEETEESRBERMNEEHE - AAHAK
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial HiGAFEBREANEARAETEMNEE - G4E
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the HERARMBIBLGANBRERLAERR
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, E{TEIEH - BfIT@HELSHEREEBN=
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate & °

opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows: BMERTHRERBNERS S ZESANT

o Revenue recognition on construction contracts

s RBREANMKHER

* Impairment of trade and retention receivables and contract assets e EWEBSRZINEUWRBSURAHNEE

Key Audit Matter
BEETSEIE

AR E

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
RMWE 0T EEERETEE

Revenue recognition on contracts for flooring and
ancillary services (“construction contracts”)

YRR MEERE SO ((RESD)) WKEER

Refer to Notes 32.18, 4(a) and 5 to the
consolidated financial statements for the
disclosures of the related accounting policies,
judgements and estimates.

RRAMBEITEE A REFORE  F28&K4
M HREMTE32.18 ~ 4(a) k5 °

For the year ended 31 March 2024, revenue from
construction contracts was HK$146,760,151 (2023:
HK$170,115,965).
BE_Z_MNF=A=+—HILFE BEAHTFR
#1055 /146,760,151 7L (Z B = =4 : 170,115,965
BIT) °

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 3R

Our procedures in relation to revenue recognition on construction
contracts included:

BAARERESONUSRAEFBR

- Obtained an understanding of the Group’s internal

control and assessment process of revenue recognition
on construction contracts and assessed the inherent risk
of material misstatement by considering the degree of
estimation uncertainty and level of other inherent risk factors,
such as subjectivity involved in significant management
judgement.
THR BESEBEREBESNNKERHERP NIRRT ERE
WERMETETUENEEREMWESRREZNKF (MEX
EEEAGMIROEEN)  UTfHERERERBANER
B

- Evaluated and validated key controls over revenue
recognition on construction contracts.

A REZERRES QM R R B RIS -



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter
BRESR

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B Y & B B ® & F

BRETSE (R

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMNETNTEERRETSEE

Revenue from construction contracts is recognised
based on the stage of completion of the Group’s
projects, which is calculated as a ratio of “total
costs incurred” to “total estimated costs for each
project”. Based on the stage of completion, the
Group recognises revenue as a percentage of the
total contract amount at the end of a reporting
period.

BEAAFRNKGZIRE EXEHEATIRERE
R WRIBEARKAETE | HETRIAROGEK
AEFEINLEFE - RETIRER S EEERRE
HARUAR GBS SEN A D L RERYE

Management judgement is involved in the
estimation of total costs to complete, including
assessment of future costs of materials and
subcontracting costs.

B TMENEARIETES SREBEERE
B - BEFERRTEREANS BEA -

We focused on this area as the determination
of stage of completion for a project involves
significant management judgement, which is
subject to a high degree of subjectivity and in turn
affects the recognition of revenue for the Group.
BAEILER ERAEETIRRNEE SRS
EFrBMEAREREE EMy2 E£ENRE
FER o

- Compared actual costs incurred against budget costs,

on a sample basis for completed projects, and enquired
management about any material variance.
BMEERETIHEMELENERKAEREXNSN  YERE
BEAHAEMNEAEZER -

- Enquired about and assessed management’s assumptions

on budget costs for a sample of projects, including
subcontracting costs, material costs and labour costs, by
comparing budget cost components to respective supporting
documents, including price quotation and rate of labour
costs. We also tested the mathematical accuracy of the
estimated costs to complete.

BBLRRBREKAAE BHEOBAXG (BEREBERS
IRAKE) EHARIEEEBHBRERANAEEXNLN (B
DEKAE - MRS TRAR) fENRE - KT T %
TR AMEMET BB R -

- Tested the total costs incurred as at the end of the reporting

period, on a sample basis, by checking to the underlying
documents supporting these costs (including invoices of
material costs and subcontracting fees).
BARBUZEXNANAEZRANMY (BEMHKENS 28R
BR)  mENSRRERREEENKARE -

- Discussed the status of projects under construction with

management to determine whether there could be other
factors affecting the calculation of stage of completion, for
example potential claims, by checking to subsequent events
and financial information available to us.
BAZHAREENEHRAMIESHONBER  HERE
AmiELHRIER MR NEEREAIEA EME X (flnExE
HR)FETTIREME -

- Tested mathematical accuracy of the calculations of contract

revenue and costs.
AASEE O WS MR ENRBERIE -

Based on our audit procedures performed, we found the revenue
recognition on construction contracts revenue based on stage of
completion to be supported by the available evidence.
BERMANTHETERF  ZMER BRBETIRRERZES O
W REIREBREMXHE -

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED B X ;2 &£ B A R & A
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter
BEETSIE

BRETSE(R)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
RMAE 0 EEERETER

Impairment of trade and retention receivables and
contract assets

BUESERRERRESARENEENRE

Refer to Notes 32.11, 3.1(c), 4(b), 12 and 14
to the consolidated financial statements for the
disclosures of the related accounting policies,
judgements and estimates.

ERABAESTEER  AEBREGOER 52056
B IREHIFES2.11 ~ 3.1(c) * 4(b) ~ 12214 »

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had gross trade
and retention receivables and contract assets
of HK$67,826,132 and HK$7,963,135 (2023:
HK$69,784,925 and HK$9,905,866) and provision
for impairment of HK$7,007,555 and HK$24,494
(2023: HK$7,694,120 and HK$60,570).
RZZE-_ME=A=+—H BESEEKEZEZEX
REKRREEUAREHEERE D HK67,826,132/%
TC]7,963,135/8 7L (Z T = =4 : 69,784,925 T &
9,905,866;87C) * R ERE#E 5 Al /7,007,555/8 7T K&
24,4947 L (ZF Z =4 : 7,694,120/ 7T }%60,5707%8
7T) °

Management performed the impairment
assessment of trade and retention receivables and
contract assets based on the information included,
but not limited to, the credit profile of different
customers, the aging profiles, their knowledge
about the customers, market conditions and past
settlement patterns. Management also considered
forward-looking information that may impact
the customers’ ability to repay the outstanding
balances in order to estimate the expected credit
loss for the impairment assessment.
ERERBEEAN (BRETRRTAEFPNGEE
HR - BRERER  BEREHATPHRE  mHiAR
BELERAF) HERNEIRTRERRE €A K
BRNEEETRENE - ERETRTRAENER
FEBEERE EESEAURYERFPHAERS
PREVETREE NV ATRE MR B KL o

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 3R

Our procedures in relation to impairment of trade and retention
receivables and contract assets included:

BREBRLESRIRERRE ARG NEERENEF BT

- Obtained an understanding of the Group’s internal control

and assessment process of impairment of trade and retention
receivables and contract assets and assessed the inherent
risk of material misstatement by considering the degree of
estimation uncertainty and level of other inherent risk factors,
such as complexity and subjectivity involved in significant
management judgement.

TR ESERERESRIREUREERARGHEENR
EROAPEG RFEER  CERGEHAIBREENEERE
EARBRERCKT (MEXNERE AL ROEREER
FEMN)  AFBERERBEREMNE R R o

- Evaluated and validated the design and operating

effectiveness of the key controls over debt collection and the
impairment assessment process, in particular those over the
identification of impaired receivables and the calculation of
the impairment provision.

AT fil B A 78 UK (B (B 75 K (B /T4 12 P o 0 T 4 1 ) AR AT I
ELERC - R A=A B Rl 2R (B FE W sk T8 K 5t BB B B A Y
2k sut

-  Tested the accuracy of the ageing of trade and retention

receivables on a sample basis by tracing to the respective
invoices.

BREHAERESE  MEASERE SRR EERRE €6
e HOZERE N

- Assessed the appropriateness of the expected credit losses

provision methodology.

AERREEERRFETENAE -

- Enquired about and assessed the information and data used

to determine the expected credit losses by considering the
cash collection performance against historical trends, the
level of credit loss changes over time, certain customers’
individual credit ratings and the reasonableness of forward —
looking information.

Lﬂ%?ﬁmﬁiﬁﬂTmﬁ%Wﬁ% EEERKTRER
REEl  ETEFPHEMNGEEFRRAELENNSEL &
ARFEREEEAEEEERTANER KR -



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter
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BRETSE (R

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
RMAE 0 EEERETER

We focused on this area because trade and
retention receivables and contract assets represent
49% of current assets and certain balances are
long aged. The estimation of impairment under
the expected credit loss model is also subject
to high degree of estimate uncertainty due to
subjectivity of significant assumptions used and
significant judgements involved in selecting data
for calculation.

BABEILER  BRRARKE S RKRELRIRE
UERERNEELMRBEENIO% A5 TEBRNRER

Discussed with management the recoverability of individually
significant receivables,
explanations by checking to the status of underlying projects,

corroborating management

information about contracted parties and subsequent
settlements, if any. We also tested the existence of
subsequent settlement on a sample basis by checking to the
underlying bank pay-in slips.
HERENwERNEZMNREKIENTREKE - WiBBRY
HEABRB NN FTOHTMERMERES (NE)BER - AED
BEEENRE - RATEBZEHBRITONERMER
HAEREBEREANTE -

BRI hNRAEMANEARRABIBILNU
ERBEBBER S RERAG HRERBCES
BRIGETHREGS TFESE G T -

We found management’s assessment of the impairment of trade
and retention receivables and contract assets to be supported by

the available audit evidence.
BMER EREHEKEZRILERREEUARENEEREN
E RBIRABTBREMIS -

OTHER INFORMATION
The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all of the information included in the
annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the

audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

HifER
BEAREFAHEAMEEAR - AEEEREH
REREIBREAMBRREAMAELA

MBI HRE) AOFBER °

s Bk
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

J Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group'’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such

communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor's report is Lam Chun Yee, Johnny.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 26 June 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

= e B B K R R

As at 31 March 2024 - “J4E=H=+—H

As at 31 March

R=B=+-—H
Note 2024 2023
HK$ BT B —E-MF —T_=
ASSETS gE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - BB MR E 6 12,108,751 12,048,932
Investment accounted for using the equity FREREARZIEE
method 497,391 3,788,243
Investment in an insurance contract EM BRAELIE 1,374,731 1,340,585
Financial assets at fair value through profit NEEF B
or loss mﬂéﬁ 9 2,616,561 2,415,393
Right-of-use assets FREEE 10 25,554,901 26,123,787
Deferred tax assets ERERIBEE 17 30,303 7,763
42,182,638 45,724,703
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 11 13,761,067 14,657,802
Trade and retention receivables JEWE SRR ERRE € 12 60,818,577 62,090,805
Prepayments, deposits and BARE ZE Rk
other receivables /\1@@4&*” 13 5,381,189 3,315,020
Financial assets at fair value through NEEEFABRZ
profit or loss TREE 9 4,305,765 4,058,279
Contract assets AEHEE 14 7,938,641 9,845,296
Current income tax recoverable aJ Wz 2] B EA Fr 15 7% 632,639 196,891
Cash and cash equivalents HeRBELEEY 15 46,243,124 34,409,576
139,081,002 128,573,669
Total assets EEAE 181,263,640 174,298,372
EQUITY R
Share capital g 7 16 5,974,440 6,000,000
Reserves s 60,299,539 61,300,884
Retained earnings {RE & 58,809,601 50,951,969
125,083,580 118,252,853
Non-controlling interests FERER 1,369,922 420,841
Total equity magw 126,453,502 118,673,694
KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED B X it £ @ A R 2
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

= PaN
AN A

M % R

D

As at 31 March 2024 A - _PUE=H=+—H

As at 31 March

R=A=+—H
Note 2024 2023
HK$ BT Bt = “E-MEF —E-=
LIABILITIES =L
Non-current liabilities *RBEE
Deferred tax liabilities EERBEAE 17 322,518 211,653
Lease liabilities HEAE 10 1,407,970 1,138,433
1,730,488 1,350,086
Current liabilities REEE
Trade payables T E SRR 18 23,489,739 22,003,876
Accruals FE5T & 19 4,759,863 2,833,211
Contract liabilities BHEE 14 10,263,878 14,057,731
Bank borrowings RITEE 20 13,043,463 12,071,835
Lease liabilities HEAE 10 1,078,608 749,794
Current income tax liabilities BIEIFEHAE 444,099 2,558,145
53,079,650 54,274,592
Total liabilities aERE 54,810,138 55,624,678
Total equity and liabilities EakeERARE 181,263,640 174,298,372

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Lt & B SR 3R 8 SR B Y Y S — £ BOAE

The consolidated financial statements on pages 57 to 139 were approved by the Board of Directors on 26 June 2024 and

were signed on its behalf.

ESTEIENGEA M BRABEFEN S _MFAAZTABRELTANTESRERES

Mr. Kwong Chi Man

BEXEE
Director

EF

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 3R

Mr. Yip Kong Lok

RBREE

Director

EF



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
= & 2 @E W &# K

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZE = F " P4E=H =+—HIL4EE

Year ended 31 March
BHE=A=1t—HLFE

Note 2024 2023
HK$ BT i 5 —ECMmE —EZ=F
Revenue &= 5 147,556,253 170,605,077
Cost of sales $HE B AR 22 (94,245,775)  (116,759,439)
Gross profit EF 53,310,478 53,845,638
Other income and other gains, net HMUA R Eb U E5E 21 560,863 2,348,302
Reversal of/(provision for) impairment loss K E ZERRERRE S
on trade and retention receivables and IWREHNEEZREER
contract assets R (BHE) 12, 14 722,641 (748,363)
General and administrative expenses — B RITBAX 22 (33,077,726) (30,243,940)
Operating profit ] 21,516,256 25,201,637
Finance income/(costs), net WA/ (RA) % 24 301,973 (188,106)
Share of loss of an associate accounted for  {F R EARZ B &
using the equity method NGl 7 (130,081) (1,023,763)
Impairment on investment accounted FERRDEARZEERE
for using the equity method 7 (3,160,771) =
Profit before income tax BR P 18 Bt A& A 18,527,377 23,989,768
Income tax expense Figfi X 25 (3,738,196) (4,176,869)
Profit for the year FERF 14,789,181 19,812,899
Profit for the year attributable to: BEEERR
- Owners of the Company — RARAERA 13,857,632 19,116,886
- Non-controlling interests — JEPERRRERS 931,549 696,013
14,789,181 19,812,899
Other comprehensive (loss)/income: Hit2®E (BB) ks
ltem that may be reclassified to profit or loss FAlgeEH HIEEBH 2 IEEB
- Exchange difference on translation of — BEINHEE 2 E N
foreign operations Z8 (12,533) 44,359
Other comprehensive (loss)/income, net of tax H b2 (&18) Kz -
e BA e (12588) 44,559
Total comprehensive income for the year FEZ2HEWEEE 14,776,648 19,857,258
Total comprehensive income attributable to: FE{5 2 F W2 48 :
- Owners of the Company — ARElEE A 13,827,567 19,148,541
- Non-controlling interests — FEERER 949,081 708,717
14,776,648 19,857,258
Earnings per share attributable to owners AT HEE AEBEERER
of the Company
- Basic and diluted (HK cents per share) - EARREE (FRBWL) 27 2.31 3.19

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
AR S 2 T U 5 2K E B BT P 5 — O B o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

= & &

2 8 =

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B ZE =R " PU4E=H =+—HIL4EE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ANREE ARG
Non-
Share Share Capital ~ Shareholder  Translation Retained controlling
capital premium reserve  contribution reserve earnings Total interests Total
kx Rt EAfE RELE BERE REEA #r  FEREs a3t
(Note 16(a)) ~ (Note 16(a))  (Note 16(b))  (Note 16(c))
HKS AT (Wittea)  (Wiee)  (Waisw)  (Wiree)
Balance at 1 April 2022 S
MA-BMEe 6,000,000 52,482,955 108 8,800,000 (13,834) 34,835,083 102,104,312 (287,876) 101,816,436
Prolfit for the year ERE = = = = - 19,116,886 19,116,886 696,013 19,812,899
Other comprehensive income ~ EEEM2ENE
for the year
Exchange differences on tranglation EEMNAZRK
of foreign operations EiEE - - - - 31,658 - 31655 12,704 44,359
Total comprehensive income ~ EE2ENHEE
for the year = = = = 31655 19,116,886 19,148,541 708,717 19,857,258
Dividends (Note 26) ke (istze) S = = = - (3,000,00) (3,000,000) - (3,000,000)
Balance at 31 March 2023 RZB2zf
ZH=T-BM&H 6000000 52482955 108 8,800,000 17821 50,951,969 118,252,853 420,841 118,673,694
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
= e KB am 8 8 X

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #& % ~F " PU4E =1 =+ — H IL4E

Attributable to owners of the Company

ANAERARR
Non-
Share Share Capital ~ Shareholder  Translation Retained controlling
capital premium reserve  contribution reserve eamings Total interests Total

e RitEE EAGE RRLE BERE REEF &t FERES a3t
(Note 16(2)) ~ (Note 16(a)  (Note 16(b))  (Note 16(c))

HiS A7 (We) (i) (FZmp) (e
Balance at 1 April 2023 - dt:2
mA-AfEH

Profit for the year EREH
Other comprehensive (loss)  EEEfB2E

income for the year (BB) /i
Exchange differences on translation £ESNEEHK

of foreign operations EiZE

Total comprehensive (loss)! EERT(ER)/
income for the year baag

Shares repurchased and cancelled  E&E RaE kM

(Note 16) (i 16)
Dividends (Note 26) R (Hitze)
Balance at 31 March 2024 1}
A=t-Rfks

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
e R 2 " B %
For the year ended 31 March 2024 B ZE =R " PU4E=H =+—HIL4EE
Year ended 31 March
BE=ZA=t-HLEFE
Note 2024 2023

HK$ BT i 5 —E-MF —T-=F
Cash flows from operating activities RETBFMEHERE
Net cash generated from operations KBS RIE & 29(a) 26,197,868 26,241,704
Income taxes paid EANEIEET (6,199,665) (2,042,542)
Net cash generated from operating activities K& ZEHEFHE 19,998,203 24,199,162
Cash flows from investing activities REZHMERELRE
Purchases of property, plant and equipment B E¥% BE LR E (1,287,719) (339,626)
Purchases of financial assets at fair value BEUAATEFAEBRZ

through profit or loss T REE = (6,289,600)
Interest income received BN ON 519,719 144,443
Net cash used in investing activities KHEEEAFEES (768,000) (6,484,783)
Cash flows from financing activities METBMESHERE
Dividend paid BEfRERE 26 (6,000,000) (3,000,000)
Proceed from bank borrowings BRITEEEFE 29(b) 5,000,000 16,500,000
Repayment of bank borrowings BEEBITEE 29(b) (4,028,372) (19,518,476)
Payment of lease liabilities INBEERE 29(b) (962,281) (692,096)
Repurchase of shares EEARIN ) 16 (996,840) -
Interest paid B F 8 (462,459) (511,711)
Net cash used in financing activities MEEZGHFAFERS (7,449,952) (7,222,283)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents BE&REREESSEYFEM 11,780,251 10,492,096
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FONBRE B eFEED

of the year 34,409,576 23,869,941
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes SNESTE R E B ) 2 53,297 47,539
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year FHRHNIBE NELEZEY 46,243,124 34,409,576

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

LA REREREEBENIH E—H6E -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL INFORMATION

Kwong Man Kee Group Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
in the Cayman Islands on 30 May 2016 as an exempted company
with limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of
1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The
address of its registered office is P.O. Box 309, Ugland House,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands and its principal place
of business is 21/F, The Bedford, 91-93 Bedford Road, Kowloon,
Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company
and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are principally
engaged in the provision of engineering services in flooring,
screeding, anti-skid surfacing, specialised texture painting and
waterproofing works. The controlling shareholder of the Company
is Mr. Kwong Chi Man (“Mr. Kwong”) and the parent company of
the Company is Sage City Investments Limited (“Sage City”).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$"), unless otherwise stated.

The Company listed its shares on GEM of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited on 13 October 2016 (the “Listing”).

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company have
been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622). The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, except for investment in an insurance contract
and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
which are carried at cash surrender value and fair value
respectively.

= & B B | x KM

—REH

BXZ&EBERAR ([AAFA)R=F
—ANFLA=THRBEFERSEEE22
ERAVE(—NAA—FEM=Z  BEE
B ERSHSIMKLAEREER
NA) o HaE =g a /AP.O. Box 309,
Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-
1104, Cayman lIslands ' fEEZ & %
B REBEBNELFEI-935The Bedford
2118 o

ANBAREZERAR - KRB REWE
REl(SBIAEE]) FERFRMEITH
FoAME HERME BEHEZRE
REIKIEAERIERSE - ARG E
BRIRRABEEE((BxEE]) MARE
#1828 ASage City Investments Limited
([Sage City]) °

BRXERBREEN
(BTl 25 -

A BHRRTIA

ARABRGR-_ZE-—RFETAT=RER
EMARXZMARRBGEM LR ([ L)

B BRZEREERED

21 REEE
RRBIZIHEENBHRRDBBEESG
SEAE (BBt AE]) BHRY
FTEEBABBMGREEL ([HEH
BHREEL]) RBEBEAF22E S
BRARGANEEREMGER - 55
BMBHREDAELRAERE - HER
REANZZERUADFEFABE
ZEBMBEENRINBRSREREBRA
FEFERRIN
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= & B B ® Xk K O

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to
exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group's
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements are disclosed in Note 4.

(a) New and amendments to existing standards and
interpretations adopted by the Group
The following new and amendments to existing
standards and interpretations are mandatory for the
financial year beginning 1 April 2023.

Standards Subject of amendments
Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of accounting

and HKFRS Practice policies
Statement 2

Amendments to Definition of Accounting
HKAS 8 Estimates
Amendments to Deferred tax related to assets
HKAS 12 and liabilities arising from a
single transaction
Amendments to International Tax Reform —
HKAS 12 Pillar Two Model Rules
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts
HKFRS 17 Amendments to HKFRS 17
HKFRS 17 Initial Application of HKFRS 17
and HKFRS 9 - Comparative
Information

None of the above new and amendments to existing
standards and annual improvement is expected to
have a significant effect on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= & B B | x KM

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 2.1

BIBRZHEREERED (R)

mAEEE ()
(b) I ARLEZLA A H K BIE TR

(b) Amendments to standards and interpretations to existing

standards that are not yet effective and have not been
early adopted by the Group

The following amendments to standards and
interpretations to existing standards have been
published and are not effective for accounting periods
beginning on 1 April 2023 and have not been early
adopted by the Group:

Standards Subject of amendments
2 £ CHER:

Amendments to HKAS 1

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

MR ZEFT R BB ER 2
#
UTERZ BT KRR 22
BEgofm BER_Z_=F
MA— BRGNS R RE
A B 7 5% [ O 4 2 A ER 4R

Effective for
accounting year
beginning on or after
HUTBEHREREA
NEFFELER

1 January 2024

ER G EAFIRNET
Amendments to HKAS 1
A ERE1IRNES]
Amendments to HKFRS 16
BEMBREEE16RNER
Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(Revised)
BBRBEST (KB
Amendments to HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7
§:@H$WV7%&§%Mﬁ
REERETHROER
Amendments to HKAS 21
BREGTERE21IRMNERT
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28
BAERBIREERE105 R
ER G ERF28HMIERT

BENERRBIFERE

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

WEZOGENERDEE

Lease liability in a Sale and Leaseback

ERMAORSTNHEERE

Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains
a Repayment on Demand Clause

ERAHSERERERGFNTHERN SR

Supplier Finance Arrangements

HETREZH

Lack of Exchangeability

Tz Al A

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture

REEERHEBENARAE X ANEEHERTA

—Z-WFE-A—H
1 January 2024
—TNE—-HF—H
1 January 2024
—T-mE-A-H
1 January 2024

“Z-MFE-A—H
1 January 2024

“T_mE-A-H

1 January 2025

“E-hF—F—H
To be determined

'+ =
FE

The Group will adopt the amendments to standards and
interpretations to existing standards when they become
effective.

The above amendments to standards and interpretation
to existing standards are not expected to have a
material impact on the financial statements of the
Group in the current or future reporting periods and on
foreseeable future transactions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
3.1 Financial risk factors

The

Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial

risks: foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk

and

liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk management

programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial

markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on

the Group’s financial performance.

Management regularly manages the financial risks of the

Group. Because of the simplicity of the financial structure and

the current operations of the Group, no hedging activities are

undertaken by management.

(a)

(b)

Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and is
exposed to immaterial exchange risk from various
currency exposures.

As the assets and liabilities of each company within
the Group are mainly denominated in the respective
company’s functional currency, the directors are of the
opinion that the Group’s volatility of its profits against
changes in exchange rates of foreign currencies would
not be significant.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises from bank deposits,
bank borrowings and lease liabilities. Bank borrowings
issued at variable rates expose the Group to cash flow
interest rate risk which is partially offset by the bank
deposits. Lease liabilities issued at fixed rates expose
the Group to fair value interest rate risk. The interest rate
profile of bank borrowings is disclosed in Note 20. The
bank deposits generate interest at the prevailing market
interest rates.

As at 31 March 2024, if interest rates had been 25 basis
points higher/lower with all other variables held constant,
the Group’s profit for the year would have increased/
decreased by approximately HK$69,000 (2023:
HK$47,000), mainly as a result of higher/lower interest
income over expense on floating rate bank deposits and
bank borrowings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= & B B | x KM

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 HEERERE(E)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 UEEBREZE (&)

(c) Credit risk (c) 1EEER

Credit risk of the Group mainly arises from trade and
retention receivables, contract assets, other receivables
and cash and cash equivalents. The carrying amounts of
these balances except cash on hand in the consolidated
statement of financial position represent the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to its
financial assets.

Cash and cash equivalents

The majority of the Group’s bank balances are placed
in financial institutions which are independently rated
with high credit ratings. Management does not expect
any losses from non-performance by these financial
institutions as they have no default history in the past.

Other receivables

Other receivables are also subject to the impairment
requirements under HKFRS 9. It is measured as either
12-month expected credit losses or lifetime expected
credit loss, depending on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
If a significant increase in credit risk of a receivable
has occurred since initial recognition, impairment is
measured as lifetime expected credit losses. As at 31
March 2024 and 2023, the identified impairment loss for
other receivables is assessed to be minimal.

Trade and retention receivables and contract assets

For trade and retention receivables and contract assets,
the Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach
to measuring expected credit losses which uses a
lifetime expected credit loss allowance for all trade
and retention receivables and contract assets without
financing components.

Receivable relating to customers with known financial
difficulties or significant doubt on collection of
receivables are assessed individually for provision for
impairment allowance. The following table presents
the balances of gross carrying amounts and the loss
allowance in respect of the individually assessed trade
receivables by invoice date as at 31 March 2024 and
2028.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= & B B ® Xk K O

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 HEERERE(E)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 UEEBEZE (&)
(c) Credit risk (Continued) (c) =EEEG (&)
Trade and retention receivables and contract assets JEWE Z B3R EWIRE 7 A K
(Continued) BHEE (&)
Individual assessment: 8B FE A
Pastdue  Pastdue  Pastdue  Pastdue
within 31 to 60 61to 90 over 90
Current 30 days days days days Total
L L b L
HK$ BT B 0HA  31%60H  61290H BiB90H o
As at 31 March 2024 RZZZ-QE
EfET=E
Gross carrying amount FHAE 9,720 328,141 730,985 - 218,928 1,287,774
Expected credit loss rates ~ BHEEERR
(Note) (i) 100% 100% 100% - 100% -
Loss allowance BEREE (9,720)  (328,141)  (730,985) - (218,928) (1,287,774)
Net carrying amount RERE - - - - - -

Other than those trade receivables which were assessed
by individual basis, trade and retention receivables
have been grouped based on the shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past in order to measure
the expected credit losses.

The Group divided trade and retention receivables
and contract assets into two categories to measure
the expected credit loss rates. Category 1 is for
customers who have a relatively low credit risk and no
default history. Category 2 is for customers who have
a relatively higher credit risk. With different types of
customers, the Group calculated the expected credit
loss rates respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= & B B | x KM

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 HERKBERE(4
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 HEER I%(F)

(c) Credit risk (Continued) (c) EE@EL (&)

Trade and retention receivables and contract assets
(Continued)

For category 1, the Group considers that these
customers have a good credit profile and no default
history. Also, these customers are financially capable
of settling the outstanding amount. The expected credit
loss for these customers are assessed individually.

For category 2, the expected credit loss rates for the
trade and retention receivables is determined according
to a provision matrix where balances that are less than
18 months overdue are provided for at expected credit
loss rates per below and trade and retention receivables
more than 18 months overdue are 100% provided for .

On that basis, the loss allowance as at 31 March 2024
and 2023 was determined as follows for trade and
retention receivables.

Category 1: Customers have a relatively low credit
risk and no default history

EWE S RIERRE £ UK
RHEE (&)

REIVEMS  AKER/EL
EFAREBRMEENLARE
RRCEE - IS - HEEPEMRE
LRENEEANEE -%ER
FPrBRHBESEREELFME -

FREEME  BRESERAK
EWREBESHEREEBERT
BEBGEEET  Hbha#Hd
R 818 B B 8RR T XFTSI K9 T8
HEEEBRXEE mailEn
1818 A K FEU B 5 BR A & FE U R
Be A 28100%EE -

RILE%E - EWE S RTRRER
REER-ZZE-_WER=ZT==
FZA=ZtT—HAZEBREET
W -

218 ERAREYRELR
BORBHEF

Trade and retention receivables

EWESERARERRE S
As at 31 March

R=A=+—H
2024 2023
HK$ BT —EMF —E-=F
Gross carrying amount FH&E 39,747,714 32,599,633
Expected credit loss rates (Note) BHEEBER (M) 0.8% 0.2%
Loss allowance BERE (321,268) (71,980)
Net carrying amount REFE 39,426,446 32,527,653
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= & B B ® Xk K O

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 HEERERE(E)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 UEEBEZE (&)
(c) Credit risk (Continued) (c) 1EEEE (%)
Trade and retention receivables and contract assets JEWE Z B3R EWIRE 7 A K
(Continued) BHEE (&)
Category 2: Customers have a relatively higher credit 2 . FERREHBRSNE
risk F

Trade and retention receivables
EUEZRIRELRES
Pastdue  Pastdue  Pastdue  Pastdue
within 31 to 60 61to 90 over 90

Current 30 days days days days Total
L L L B
HK$ BT BN 30BR  31260H 61290  &iB90H act
As at 31 March 2024 N-E-_mE
=B=1-H
Gross carrying amount FR&E 11,312,696 4,845,458 1,586,779 70,961 8,974,750 26,790,644
Expected credit loss rates ~ BHEEERR
(Note) (i) 0.4% 2.3% 4.4% 6.2% 57.6% -
Loss allowance EREE (45,310)  (111,286) (70,152) (4,401) (5,167,364) (5,398,513)
Net carrying amount REFE 11,267,386 4,734,172 1,516,627 66,560 3,807,386 21,392,131
As at 31 March 2023 W=B==%
=ZA=t-H
Gross carrying amount FRAE 15,844,066 6,513,753 713,402 1864513 12,249,558 37,185,292
Expected credit loss rates ~ FEHEEBHEX
(Note) (Hit) 2.1% 49% 6.1% 8.4% 55.3% =
Loss allowance BEAE (328,539)  (318,305)  (43,296)  (156,696) (6,775,304) (7,622,140)
Net carrying amount REFE 15,515,527 6,195,448 670,106 1,707,817 5,474,254 29,563,152
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= & B B | x KM

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 HEERERE(E)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 UEEBREZE (&)
(c) Credit risk (Continued) (c) 1EEREE (&)
Trade and retention receivables and contract assets JEWE Z 05 R IEWIRE 7 A R
(Continued) BHEE (&)
The contract assets relate to unbilled work in progress EREEERRABEZNAEEL
and have substantially the same risk characteristics RER HEAERESER
as the current trade receivables for the same types of (MRABAELAMS) Z AR KEE
contracts. The Group has therefore concluded that the o Filt - AEBR SR AER
expected credit loss rates for trade receivables are ESRFNEREEESEXRDA
a reasonable approximation of the loss rates for the BRUREHEENEERE - &
contract assets. On that basis, the loss allowance as at BHEE  SNEER-_THNF
31 March 2024 and 2023 was determined as follows for k=T -_=F=A=+—HHE
contract assets. BREETWT
Contract assets BHEE
Category 1 Category 2 Total
HK$ BT E18 E288 et
As at 31 March 2024 R-ZE-ZME=ZA=+—-H
Gross carrying amount REAE 7,348,086 615,049 7,963,135
Expected credit loss rates (Note) — TEER(z EE1E =R (#f5) 0.3% 0.4% =
Loss allowance BiEEE (21,748) (2,746) (24,494)
Net carrying amount RmEFE 7,326,338 612,303 7,938,641
As at 31 March 2023 R-ZBEZ=%5zZA=+-H
Gross carrying amount BRHAE 7,817,245 2,088,621 9,905,866
Expected credit loss rates (Note) TEH=EBEX (f/2) 0.2% 2.1% =
Loss allowance BiEEE (17,260) (43,310) (60,570)
Net carrying amount RREFE 7,799,985  2,045311 9,845,296
Note: Expected credit loss rates were determined based Kt . BEEEBERERREBEAE
on the Group’s internal and historical credit loss BEHABRBATEEEEH
data, the days past due and the probability of default & BEABXERENH
of customers. The Group also takes into account RMEE o AEETat Rk
forward-looking information on factors relevant to the AEERERFEIER
industry in which the Group and its customers operate, A&z (nEENEREK
such as investment level of Hong Kong. )BT AR o

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED B X ;2 &£ B A R & A
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Credit risk (Continued)

Trade and retention receivables and contract assets
(Continued)

Trade and retention receivables, contract assets and
other receivables are written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there
is no reasonable expectation of recovery include the
failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with
the Group. Impairment losses on trade and retention
receivables and contract assets are presented as net
impairment losses within operating profit. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited
against the same line item.

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining
sufficient cash and the availability of funding from
external parties.

The Group’s primary cash requirements have been for
payments for capital expenditures, loan repayment,
trade payables, other creditors, accrued liabilities and
operating expenses. Accordingly, the directors are of
the opinion that the Group does not have significant
liquidity risk.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities
into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining
period at the date of the consolidated statement of
financial position to the contractual maturity date. The
amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows. Fair values of balances due on
demand or less than 1 year approximate their carrying
balances as the impact of discounting is not significant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

g a6 M & ®m x K ==
3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 HEERERE(E)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 UEEBREZE (&)
(d) Liquidity risk (Continued) (d) mHEZERE (E)

Specifically, for bank borrowings which contain a
repayment on demand clause which can be exercised
at the bank’s sole discretion, the analysis shows the
cash outflow based on the earliest period in which the
Group can be required to pay, that is if the lender were
to invoke their unconditional rights to call the loans with

AEME  URBERERER
BRHRORITEE RITT2EE
BREITEZIER) - 2B T
AEEARERMHRITEER
RPHRHRERL - AIRRE
ARSI A E R AE K

immediate effect. =
On demand Between Between
or less than 1and 2 2and 5 Over
1 year years years 5 years Total
REX,
HKS BT -FR  -Z@mER  ZELFR RBLE @
As at 31 March 2024 RZBE-ME=A=1-H
Trade payables ERESER 23,489,739 - - - 23,489,739
Financial liabilities included in SAEHERZLRERE
accruals 1,484,968 - - - 1,484,968
Bank borrowings BEE 13,298,243 - - - 13,298,243
Lease liahilities BEEE 1,159,668 731,858 749,952 - 2,641,478
39,432,618 731,858 749,952 - 40,914,428
As at 31 March 2023 WZEZ=£=f=1-H
Trade payables ERESE&N 22,003,876 - - - 22,003,876
Financial liabilities included in TAEHERZEBEE
accruals 1,827,801 - - - 1,827,801
Bank borrowings RITRE 12,342,854 - - - 12,342,854
Lease liabilities HEEE 810,020 655,416 531,595 - 1,997,031
36,984,551 655,416 531,595 - 38,171,562
KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED B X ;2 &£ B A R & A



74

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n

3

N

PaN
=)

§f

¥ Ow KR KM O

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.1 FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS (Continued)
(d) Liquidity risk (Continued)

Where the loan agreement contains a repayable on

demand clause which gives the lender the unconditional

right to call the loan at any time, the amounts repayable

are classified in the earliest time bracket in which the

lender could demand repayment. Based on the internal

information provided by management, it is expected

that the lender will not exercise its rights to demand

repayment. The expected cash flows with reference

to the schedule of repayments set out in the loan

agreements are as follows:

3 HMEBEERREE(R)
3.1 MBEBRREE(HE)

(d)

RBEZEE ()
WEERGETBSRERER
KSR MazERGE TERAKR
1 {0 By 3 A 48 46 1 38 M B R0
B AEREENSERBAR
FARBRERNKRER - R
BEEBRHENABES - Bat
ERATEITEERERNE
o B2EE R Wk R0 SR
X REBREREWT

Between Between
Less than 1and2 2and 5 Over

1 year years years 5 years Total
HK$ -Ep -E@MER  ZEILER BBLE -
As at 31 March 2024 RZZ-ME=R=1-H
Bank borrowings 6,316,151 1,302,204 3,253,146 3,213,717 14,085,218
As at 31 March 2023
Bank borrowings 4,302,707 1,296,240 3,549,966 4,180,062 13,328,975

3.2 Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to

safeguard the Group'’s ability to continue as a going concern

in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits

for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital

structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group

may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders,

return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets

to reduce debit.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.2

3.3
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3 HMEERREE(R)

Capital risk management (Continued) 32 EXERER (&)
Total capital of the Group is calculated as total equity plus AREBNAERNTIREERNEEES
total borrowings (including bank borrowings and lease (PRFROTBENHEHEERE)FE - K
liabilities). The gearing ratio of the Group was as follows: EENERNBELERNT

As at 31 March

R=A=+—H

2024 2023

HK$ BT —EMF —T=F
Bank borrowings (Note 20) RITEE (K it20) 13,043,463 12,071,835
Lease liabilities (Note 10) HEREHFE0) 2,486,578 1,888,227
Total borrowings BEs 15,530,041 13,960,062
Total equity e 126,453,502 118,673,694
Total capital BEK 141,983,543 132,633,756
Gearing ratio ERBELX 10.9% 10.5%
Fair value estimation 3.3 AFEMHE

This section explains the judgements and estimates made in
determining the fair values of the financial instruments that
are recognised and measured at fair value in the financial
statements. To provide an indication about the reliability
of the inputs used in determining fair value, the Group
has classified its financial instruments into the three levels
prescribed under the accounting standards:

Level 1: The fair value of financial instruments traded in active
markets (such as publicly traded derivatives and equity
securities) is based on quoted market prices at the end of the
reporting period.

Level 2: The fair value of financial instruments that are not
traded in an active market (for example, over-the-counter
derivatives) is determined using valuation techniques which
maximise the use of observable market data and rely as
little as possible on entity-specific estimates. If all significant
inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the
instrument is included in level 2.

Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (unobservable inputs).
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

All of the Group’s financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss (“FVPL") were classified into Level 3 as they do not
have a quoted price in active markets. The Group’s policy
is to recognise transfers into and out of fair value hierarchy
levels as at the end of the reporting period. There were no
transfers between level 1, 2 and 3 during the year.

In terms of valuation techniques, the Group uses a variety
of methods depending on the availability of information and
makes assumptions that are based on market conditions
existing at the end of each reporting period. Independent
external valuer has been involved in determining the fair
values, when appropriate. The unlisted preference shares
were valued with reference to recent subscription price
of the investee’s equity interests, which is a significant
unobservable input. Other unobservable inputs include
movement of market comparable, probability of conversion
scenario, risk-free interest rates and expected volatility.
Other unlisted investment was valued using discounted
cashflow method, in which the discount rate is considered the
significant unobservable input. Higher discount rate will result
in lower fair value.

Other than the financial assets at FVPL, the carrying amounts
of the Group’s financial instruments carried at amortised cost
approximate their fair values as at the reporting date since
either the instrument are with short maturities or the interest
rate is close to the current market rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the

future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,

seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and

assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material

adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within

the next financial year are discussed below.

(a)

(b)

Construction contracts

The Group reviews and revises the estimates of contract
revenue, contract costs, variation orders and contract claims
prepared for each construction contract as the contract
progresses. Budgeted construction costs are prepared by
the management on the basis of quotations from time to time
provided by the major subcontractors, suppliers or vendors
involved and the experience of the management. In order
to keep the budget accurate and up-to-date, management
conducts periodic reviews of the budgets of contracts by
comparing the budgeted amounts to the actual amounts
incurred. Such significant estimates may have an impact on
the profit recognised in each year.

Impairment of trade and retention receivables and
contract assets

The Group follows the guidance of HKFRS 9 to determine
when trade and retention receivables and contract assets
are impaired. Significant judgement is exercised on the
assessment of the risk of default and expected credit losses
from each customer. In making the judgement, management
considers a wide range of factors such as results of follow-up
procedures, customer payment trends including subsequent
payments, customers’ financial positions and expected future
change of credit risks, including consideration of factors such
as general economy measure, changes in macro-economic
indicators, etc. Details of assumptions and inputs used are
discussed in Note 3.
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

(Continued)

(c) Income taxes
The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong and
Macau. Significant judgement is required in determining the
provision for income taxes. There are certain transactions
and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax
audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes
will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is
different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such
differences will impact the current and deferred tax assets
and liabilities in the period in which such determination is
made.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
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s ko BER
Year ended 31 March
BE=A=t-HLEFE

2024 2023
HK$ BT —E-MF —T=F
Flooring P 6 5% 123,800,375 143,014,181
Ancillary services e E AR 7% 22,959,776 27,101,784
Sales of materials HEME 796,102 489 112
147,556,253 170,605,077

Timing of revenue recognition: o o T SR B I P
At a point in time B, 796,102 489,112
Over time BE s S 146,760,151 170,115,965
147,556,253 170,605,077

The Executive Directors have been identified as the chief
operating decision-maker of the Group who review the Group’s
internal reporting in order to assess performance and allocate
resources. The directors regard the Group’s business as a single
operating segment and review consolidated financial statements
accordingly.

The Group operates primarily in Hong Kong with substantially all
its non-current assets located and capital expenditure incurred in
Hong Kong.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, revenue was earned from
customers located in Hong Kong, Macau and other Asian regions
of HK$145,586,366 (2023: HK$168,199,727), HK$1,586,025 (2023:
HK$2,405,350) and HK$383,862 (2023: Nil), respectively.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, no customers contributed over
10% of the total revenue of the Group. Revenue from customers
contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2024 was as follows:

HTEZCHABARENTIBLLRR
EFEBRSAREMNARERAFERR
PAEER BEEHARENEHRA—
BEED ML MU BN ZAABERE -

ASEIBERBEARERY HETHE
FRBDEENNEENETAEEARRY
REBEL -

HEZ-_WF=A=+—HBItFE  #fu
REBH Fﬁ&ﬁi\@ﬁﬁ)l\ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁ%}f‘ﬁﬁ%ﬂi
R \’\%Ji%145 586,366/8 L (ZE ==
F 168,199,727 7) * 1,586,025/ T
(ZZ = =4 : 2,405,350/ 7T) %383,862
BL(ZE_=F:TFT) °

BE_T_=F=A=+—-HIEFE ¥
EXPENAERAKEREB10% - REE
T ME=A=+-HLEFERRHAK
EEKaBBI0%NE P AERMBENT :

2024
HK$ BT —E-NmEF
Customer A ZPA 39,185,446

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for
services rendered in the normal course of business.

Rz R ERRENATENE &
BELEXGARTRERBORKEE
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
(a) Construction contracts

Revenue from the construction services is recognised over
time as the Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset or work in progress that the customer controls as the
asset is created or enhanced.

The Group has applied the input method in recognising the
revenue from construction contracts by reference to the
Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction on a performance
obligation relative to the total expected inputs to the
satisfaction of the performance obligation. Accordingly,
the Group uses the “percentage-of-completion method” to
determine the appropriate amount of revenue to recognise
in a given period. The stage of completion is measured by
reference to costs incurred to date as a percentage of total
contract costs.

The Group considers the input method better depicts the
Group’s performance in transferring control of goods or
services to their customers.

When the outcome of a construction contract cannot be
estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised only to
the extent of contract costs incurred that are likely to be
recoverable.

Variations in contract work, claims and incentive payments
are included in contract revenue to the extent that may have
been agreed with the customer and are capable of being
reliably measured.

Estimates of revenues, costs or extent of progress toward
completion are revised if circumstances change. Any
resulting increases or decreases in estimated revenues or
costs are reflected in profit or loss in the period in which the
circumstances that give rise to the revision become known by
management.

The customer pays the fixed amount based on a payment
schedule. If the services rendered by the Group exceed the
payment, a contract asset is recognised. If the payments
exceed the services rendered, a contract liability is
recognised.

All construction contracts by the Group are warranted to be
free of defects for a period of one year. Expected cost for
warranty repairs are accrued when necessary.

No element of financing is deemed present as payments are
in accordance with the typical payment terms of the relevant
industry.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 6 WE BERRXE
Furniture and Leasehold Motor
Buildings equipment improvements vehicles Total

HK$ BT ET BARZE HENEES "E @it
At 1 April 2022 R-E-_—FEmA—AH
Cost B 13,454,752 4,984,879 1,887,268 2,060,286 22,387,185
Accumulated depreciation ZitiE (1,655,574) (4,239,747 (1,687,415) (2,060,286) (9,643,022)
Net book amount FRFE 11,799,178 745,132 199,853 - 12,744,163
Year ended 31 March 2023  HE-Z-=%

SA=+-BLLEE
Opening net book amount AR R E 11,799,178 745,132 199,853 = 12,744,163
Additions NE = 227,126 - 112,500 339,626
Disposal & - (3,539) - - (3,539)
Depreciation & (452,104) (465,085) (88,823) (25,000) (1,031,012)
Exchange differences EHES = (306) - - (306)
Closing net book amount BREEFE 11,347,074 503,328 111,030 87,500 12,048,932
At 31 March 2023 RZBZ=4=A=1-H
Cost A 13,454,752 5,201,010 1,887,268 2,172,786 22,715,816
Accumulated depreciation 2itiE (2,107,678)  (4,697,682)  (1,776,238)  (2,085,286)  (10,666,884)
Net book amount FEFE 11,347,074 503,328 111,030 87,500 12,048,932
Year ended 31 March 2024 HE-_ZT-NE

ZA=t-RLEEE
Opening net book amount BT FE 11,347,074 503,328 111,030 87,500 12,048,932
Additions NE - 840,702 159,017 288,000 1,287,719
Depreciation nE (452,103) (546,624) (125,179) (101,500)  (1,225,406)
Exchange differences ELER - (902) (1,592) - (2,494)
Closing net book amount HRRRFE 10,894,971 796,504 143,276 274,000 12,108,751
At 31 March 2024 RZZ-ME=A=+—-H
Cost A 13,454,752 6,040,212 2,043,993 2,433,703 23,972,660
Accumulated depreciation ZithE (2,559,781) (5,243,708) (1,900,717) (2,159,703)  (11,863,909)
Net book amount FRFE 10,894,971 796,504 143,276 274,000 12,108,751
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2024, depreciation of
HK$460,284 (2023: HK$401,811) and HK$765,122 (2023:
HK$629,201) were charged to “cost of sales” and “general
and administrative expenses” in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, respectively.

Refer to Note 20 for information on non-current assets pledged as
security by the Group.

INVESTMENT ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY
METHOD

Interests in an associate

Set out below is the information of the associate of the Group as
at 31 March 2024 and 2023. The share capital of the associate
consists solely of ordinary shares. The country of incorporation
of registration is also its principal place of business, and the
proportion of ownership interest is the same as the proportion of
voting rights held by the Group.

Place of business/

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M- BERSE(E)
REEZZT-_NE=-A=+—HLEFE "
JrE460,2848 7L (ZFE =5 : 401,815
TT) & 765,122 70 (Z 8 = =4 : 629,201
BIL) Do RlBRAZHRERTHHE
BOA ) & [ — R RATE A X ] 306k ©

ERASBEERAZERDEENER
B2 20 -

EHEREARZRE

REtE N8 2 i
TREAEE-FBELAN TN
FR-ZZF-=F=ZA=1T—HWEHR %
g8 DA R A E B B R AR - H
RUBZREETRLEMHEMER MAK
LESREiRR - Sl A DN e - 3ol
R -

country of % of ownership interest  Measurement Carrying amount
Name of entity incorporation 2024 2023 method Principal activity 2024 2023
E¥nY/ FEREE% KAk
EiRsR AMRIAR -B-BE  -To=F HERE IERH “BCRmE -B-CF
% % HKS HK$
V- AT
Carful Group Limited (“CGL") Hong Kong 40% 40% Equity method  Provision of car-sharing 497,391 3,788,243
platforms and motor
beauty in Hong Kong
ENEEERAA(ERNER]) 3 303 EERRMN
RETARAEEE

On 21 February 2022, a subsidiary of the Group acquired 40%
equity interests in CGL at a consideration HK$5,000,000.
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INVESTMENT ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY
METHOD (Continued)

Interests in an associate (Continued)

The tables below provide summarised financial information for
the associate. The information disclosed reflects the amounts
presented in the financial statements of the relevant associate and
not the Group’s share of those amounts.

= 8

M B O® KR K

EREEEARZRE (B)

REE N7z ()

TRENZBEDANHBER - FHE

MERRRNEBRE L

A HO B 75 K

2INEE  MIEARERENEE -

Summarised balance sheet EEABRMZ
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
HK$ BT =B=+—H =A=+—H
Current assets MEEE
Cash and cash equivalents HeRBRESEEY 59,486 887,574
Other current assets Htme & E 253,599 231,687
Total current assets MEEEME 313,085 1,119,261
Non-current assets FEMEE E 74,546 134,390
Current liabilities mEBE 795,660 813,074
Non-current liabilities FEMEBE 1,001,739 115,374
Net (liabilities)/assets (BR) /BEEFE (1,409,768) 325,203
Reconciliation to carrying IREEEER
amounts:
Net assets at the beginning of the  RETHEE BN EEFE
financial year 325,203 1,884,611
Loss for the year FREE (1,722,320) (2,559,408)
Other reserve H b (12,651) 1,000,000
Closing net assets HREREFE (1,409,768) 325,203
Group's share in% REEEL% 40% 40%
Group’s share in HK$ INE B G L A AR - 130,081
Goodwill EES 3,658,162 3,658,162
Impairment loss EEE (3,160,771) -
Carrying amount FREE 497,391 3,788,243
Revenue U 25 805,647 100,306
Depreciation and amortisation & K (155,034) (438,193)
Interest expense MERX (28,694) (26,738)
Loss for the year FREE (1,722,320) (2,559,408)
KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED B X :2 &£ @ B R 2 7
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INVESTMENT IN AN INSURANCE CONTRACT

The Group invests in key management life insurance contract,
which contains both investment and insurance elements, with a
director of the Group as the insured person.

Investment in a key management life insurance contract was
arranged with a major financial institution in Hong Kong, which the
directors believe are of high credit quality.

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the carrying amount of the
investment in an insurance contract is denominated in US dollar
(“UsD”).

Movement of the Group’s investment in a key management life
insurance contract is as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RRBENZKRE
AEBR—MHETEEEEASRREHZ
BRERERERRRBK Y RABREE
B—%EE-

TEEBRBASRRAOTIAEE M
ECRMBBRE ME=HEAREAS
EEEZ-

R-FB-_MOER-_F_=F=A=+—H"
m%@aﬂZ&ﬁmﬁﬁﬁuinU%
T EHE-

77

FEERTREREABSRBRAN KA
MEFMT -

Year ended 31 March

W=B=+—H
2024 2023
HK$ BT —EBomEF —B-=HF
At 1 April 2023 RZEZ=5WNA—H 1,340,585 1,302,811
Changes in cash surrender value  IR&RREEE 43,929 34,018
Exchange differences bE 5 =R (9,783) 3,756
At 31 March 2024 RZE-ZWE=A=+—H 1,374,731 1,340,585

Refer to Note 20 for information on non-current assets pledged as
security by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR
LOSS

= & B B | x KM

9 LAFEFABZZEMEE

As at 31 March

R=B=+-H
2024 2023

HK$ BT —E-MF —T_=
Non-current assets ERBEE
Unlisted preference shares JEETE LR 2,616,561 2,415,393
Current asset MEEE
Convertible promissory note e R 4,305,765 4,058,279

6,922,326 6,473,672

Movement of the Group’s financial assets at FVPL for the year
ended 31 March 2024 is as follows:

AEBHE-_T-_WME=A=+—AHILF
BURTEF ARG eREENZH N
T

Unlisted Convertible
preference promissory

shares note Total
¥Em AEHR
HK$ BT BER AR EE Foy
At 1 April 2023 RZZE-_=FMA—H 2,415,393 4,058,279 6,473,672
Net fair value gains — unrealised RNEEREFE - AEH 218,942 277,160 496,102
Exchange differences B Y, = 78 (17,774) (29,674) (47 448)
As 31 March 2024 RN-BE_ME=A=+—H 2,616,561 4,305,765 6,922,326

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED B X ;2 &£ B A R & A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= & B B ® Xk K O

10 LEASES 10 #E

(a) Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of

financial position

RESHBRRREINEH

As at 31 March

R=A=+—H
2024 2023
HK$ BT R-BZmE RZT-=
Right-of-use assets TREERE
Leasehold land HETH 23,136,339 24,127,880
Properties leases MERE 1,389,481 1,412,671
Motor vehicles it} 1,029,081 583,236
25,554,901 26,123,787
Lease liabilities HEEE
Current nE 1,078,608 749,794
Non-current ELnt) 1,407,970 1,138,433
2,486,578 1,888,227

The right-of-use assets represent the Group’s rights to use
underlying leasehold land, leased premises, motor vehicles
and photocopiers under lease arrangements over the lease
terms from 2 to 30 years. They are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses and adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease
liabilities.

Refer to Note 20 for information on non-current assets
pledged as security by the Group.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, additions to the
right-of-use assets were HK$1,670,987 (2023: HK$1,924,888).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= & B B | x KM

10 LEASES (Continued) 10 5 (&)
(b) Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of (b) REE2HKNEREINSHE

comprehensive income
During the year 31 March
BE=A=t-HLEE

2024 2023
HK$ BT —EomE —E_=F
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEENE
(Note 22) (fizE22)
Leasehold land HE L 991,542 991,542
Leased properties HEWE 699,316 499,127
Motor vehicles qE 464,971 243,531
Photocopiers SEN 84,044 -
2,239,873 1,734,200
Expenses related to short-term leases HEMHEENFERA AL
payments (Note 22) (Biet22) 329,438 323,969
Interest expense (included in finance MBS GTATBHEA)
costs) (Note 24) (Ktet24) 91,264 41,125
During the year ended 31 March 2024, depreciation of HE_Z_NWF=A=+—HLF
right-of-use assets of HK$426,109 (2023: HK$267,545) B BREAENE426,1098 T (=
and HK$1,813,764 (2023: HK$1,466,655) were charged to B =F:267,545%7T) &1,813,764
“cost of sales” and “general and administrative expenses” BT (ZE =% :1,466,655870) E
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, DRIRGE B EROHERA]
respectively. R =R RITERAZ Mk -
During the year ended 31 March 2024, the total cash outflow HE-_Z_WNF=-A=+—HLF
for leases was HK$1,382,983 (2023: HK$1,057,190). B HENRS R #%E 41,382,983

BT (ZEZ=4%:1,057,190/8 L) °

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED B X ;2 &£ B A R & A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AN

PaN
=)

M B O® R M

10 LEASES (Continued)

11

10 #HE (&)

(¢) The Group’s leasing activities and how these are (c) XEENHEEFHIREARAR
accounted for
The Group leases warehouses, motor vehicles and AEBHARE - RELRFHE - &
photocopiers. Rental contracts of warehouses, motor vehicles B RERTIDEABESHN—RIE
and photocopiers are typically made in accordance with the BHRESARFTAMMBERGTL
lease terms as stipulated in the rental contracts.
Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and HEBTDENER  YEEEZ TR
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The BRkEE BREBAAEENHEESR
lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than ENERERIN HERZTERE
the security interests in the leased assets that are held by the EARFE -BRHEET I HEEE
lessor. With the exception of leasehold land, leased assets TeRAERTRMER -
may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.
(d) Termination options (d) Kib:ER
Termination options are included in some of the leased Zl»‘%ﬁ’\]”?%ﬁf%%@%% B
properties across the Group. These are used to maximise TE o ZRERES ElREEERR
operational flexibility in terms of managing the assets used in M LEBEEE EZIK%IEEFWHQ
the Group’s operations. B
INVENTORIES 7E
As at 31 March
R=RA=+-—H
2024 2023
HK$ BT —E_MmE T
Flooring materials H 3 88 3% M R 10,048,273 11,746,261
Waterproofing materials B 7K 7 4 3,676,384 2,842,920
Specialised texture painting BENIRRR 36,410 68,621
13,761,067 14,657,802

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the costs of inventories

recognised as expense and included in “cost of sales” amounted
to HK$53,519,002 (2023: HK$64,946,483) (Note 22).

During the year ended 31 March 2024, reversal of provision for
obsolete inventories of HK$269,824 (2023: HK$159,627) was made
(Note 22). The Group also wrote off inventories with no resaleable
value amounting to HK$72,678 (2023: HK$333,143) (Note 22).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12 TRADE AND RETENTION RECEIVABLES

= & B B | x KM

12 BRUEBZRIRERGES

As at 31 March

R=B=t+-H

2024 2023

HK$ BT —ECmE —E-=F
Trade receivables e E ZER R 46,046,759 49,673,399
Retention receivables fEWIRE & 21,779,373 20,111,526
67,826,132 69,784,925

Less: provision for impairment o RE R (7,007,555) (7,694,120)
Trade and retention receivables, net EUE 5 8RR IE MR € F 5 60,818,577 62,090,805

The credit period granted to trade customers other than for
retention receivables is within 30 days. The terms and conditions in
relation to the release of retentions varies from contract to contract,
which may be subject to practical completion, the expiry of the
defect liability period or a pre-agreed time period. The Group does
not hold any collateral as security.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables based on invoice date is

RYESEF (RURBEHINMEEH
RB0B A - BREAMERRE & M R BRI
RERAME  JRAGRTERTT 7
EHERRELEBENHRME - AEH
TEFETMERRE/ER -

WE ZRFERER B B Kk D10

as follows: i

As at 31 March

R=A=t+-—H
2024 2023
HK$ BT —EmE —EZ=F
1 - 30 days 1230H 10,251,213 14,449,914
31 - 60 days 31£60H 9,939,087 8,810,908
61 - 90 days 61290H 2,191,761 2,493,521
Over 90 days @90 H 23,664,698 23,919,056
46,046,759 49,673,399

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED B X ;2 &£ B A R & A
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12 TRADE AND RETENTION RECEIVABLES (Continued)

In the consolidated statement of financial position, retention
receivables were classified as current assets based on operating
cycle. The ageing of retention receivables based on invoice date is

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12 BRUEZRIRERRE S (B)

ERAMBMART  BURARESENE
ERHENBRARDEE -BRAREEE
REZHHHOMREDT

as follows:

As at 31 March

R=B=+-—-H
2024 2023
HK$ BT —EmE —E-=F
Within 1 year 1R 6,485,258 9,725,685
Between 1 to 5 years 1255 15,294,115 10,385,841
21,779,373 20,111,526

The carrying amounts of trade and retention receivables
approximate their fair values due to their short maturities.

Trade and retention receivables are denominated in the following

FBUWEZEFRERGFE SHRE A
B RAEAREREEEQTERS -

FWE ZEF R ERERE AT EE

currencies: & :

As at 31 March

R=A=+-—H
2024 2023
HK$ BT “RomE —TC=F
HK$ BT 64,198,651 65,326,386
MOP BT 3,624,783 4,458,539
Others Hit 2,698 -
67,826,132 69,784,925

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring
expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected credit
loss allowance for all trade and retention receivables. Details of
assumptions and inputs used are discussed in Note 3.1(c).

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified approach
permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime losses to
be recognised from initial recognition of the receivables, see note
3.1(c) for further details.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TRADE AND RETENTION RECEIVABLES (Continued)
Movements on the provision for impairment of trade and retention
receivables are as follows:

= & B B | x KM

12 BURESRIREURES (&)
JE U E 5 B 3% I FE W R B %E’J/ﬁ%ﬁﬁéﬁ%

T :

2024 2023
HK$ BT —EMF —E-=F
As at 1 April KU A—H 7,694,120 6,949,490
(Reversal of)/provision for impairment loss  FEUZ 5 BR 20 N FEU IR 28 & &Y
on trade and retention receivables FERE (L), #iE (686,565) 744,630
As at 31 March W=A=+—H 7,007,555 7,694,120
PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 13 FERFHIE RE R HMEWRE
As at 31 March
R=B=+-—H
2024 2023
HK$ T 113 —TZ=F
Deposits and prepayments e RBMHKIE 3,297,179 2,463,794
Other receivables H fth fE Ut 7R TE 2,084,010 851,226
5,381,189 3,315,020

The carrying amounts of the Group’s prepayments, deposits and
other receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

ASEBRMNRE  21E REAMRE KRN
BREEATIIERE

As at 31 March

R=ZB=+-—H
2024 2023
HK$ BT —E_MEF —E-=F
HK$ AT 3,995,451 2,792,196
MOP BT 19,810 485
Others Hitb 1,365,928 522,339
5,381,189 3,315,020
The carrying amounts of prepayments, deposits and other ENRIE  Re REAMERFIENREE
receivables approximate their fair values. HEANFERE -
KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED B X :2 &£ @ B R 2 7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= & B B ® Xk K O

14 CONTRACT ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) 14 BHEE/(8fF)

As at 31 March

R=B=+—H
2024 2023
HK$ BT —EmE —EZ=F
Contract assets BNEE 7,963,135 9,905,866
Less: provision for impairment B ORERE (24,494) (60,570)
7,938,641 9,845,296

As at 31 March

R=A=+-—H
2024 2023
HK$ BT —E-MEF =%
Contract liabilities EHBE (10,263,878) (14,057,731)

The contract assets are primarily related to the Group’s rights to
consideration for work completed and not billed because the rights
are conditional on the Group’s future performance in achieving
specified milestones at the reporting date. The contract assets are
transferred to trade receivables when the rights for consideration
become unconditional. The Group typically reclassifies contract
assets to trade receivables on the date of acceptance reports
issued by the customers and invoices issued to them when such
right of collection becomes unconditional other than the passage

of time.

The contract assets relate to unbilled work in progress and have
substantially the same risk characteristics as the trade and
retention receivables. The contract assets are related to contracts

which are still in progress and the payment is not due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= & B B | x KM

14 CONTRACT ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) (Continued) 14 GHNEE/ (&) (&)
Movements on the provision for impairment of contract assets are AHBERERENZZHOT
as follows:
2024 2023

HK$ BT —BomE —E_=F
As at 1 April WA —H 60,570 56,837
(Reversal of)/provision for impairment loss & #1& EREEE (ER)

on contract assets B s (36,076) 3,733
As at 31 March R=A=+—8H 24,494 60,570

Details of assumptions and inputs used are discussed in Note
3.1(c).

(a) Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities
The following table shows the revenue recognised during
the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023 related to
carried-forward contract liabilities.

B AR T 9 A I R0 A 3.1 )

(a) FESGHNEEBERINKE
TEREFIRBEZ-_ONFR=F
—=HE=R=t+—-HULFERLEES
HaEmrANHKE

Year ended 31 March
HE=A=1+-BL%E

2024 2023
HK$ BT —EmE —B_=F
Revenue recognised that was included  (tAEHE KN EBEHD
in the contract liabilities balance at B R e
beginning of the year 11,433,071 5,001,574

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED B X ;2 &£ B A R & A
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14 CONTRACT ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) (Continued) 14 SHEE/(BfF) (4
(b) Unsatisfied performance obligations (b) REMKE ']fE\E
The following table shows unsatisfied performance obligation TRINTEEBRERHBRESNELE
resulting from fixed-priced long-term construction contracts. HREKBARME

As at 31 March

R=A=+—H
2024 2023

HK$ BT —ERmE —F-=
Aggregate amount of the transaction ZfH kTR REK K BEEAH

price of construction contracts that B 5 {ERE%E

are partially or fully unsatisfied 65,612,777 87,034,478
Management expects that the transaction prices regarding ERERF RZZT-_MF=HA
the unsatisfied contracts as at 31 March 2024 will be ST-BEBRERGANRHER
recognised as revenue by referencing to the progress B2EZTHEAEDNEREERREK
towards completion of the contract activities. e
All other contracts are for periods of one year or less. As FiBEME N R —FERHR -
permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to REBT B REER S5 T
these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed. DREZERERE NN HERL

AL o
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15 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 15 BERREZEEY

As at 31 March

R=B=t+-H
2024 2023
HK$ BT —ECmE —E-=F
Cash at bank and on hand (Note (a)) RITRFERE (H7F(a) 31,243,124 28,009,576
Short-term bank deposits (Note (b)) BRI R (WaE (b)) 15,000,000 6,400,000
Cash and cash equivalents HeMNEEEBY 46,243,124 34,409,576
Maximum exposure to credit risk AN R EERR 46,211,626 34,375,336

(a) The Group's cash at bank is mainly deposited with banks in Hong
Kong and Macau, all of which had a maturity of not more than three
months. Cash at bank earned interest at floating rates based on daily

bank deposit rates.
(b) As at 31 March 2024, the effective interest rate on short-term bank

deposits was 4.7% per annum (2023: 3.4%). The short-term bank

deposits had a maturity of three months.

Cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the following

(a) AEEWRTRETEFHNEEREN
WIRTT  FARTREMEINE BT
B=A - RARLERS B RITFHRA
£ FBHER 8 -

(b) RZZE-MF=A=+—H  BHRIT
BFRNEBRFNERGFLIT% (ZE ==
F:34%) BRHRTERNIHEHA
=fEA -

ReRBEFBYUTHNERTE

currencies:

As at 31 March

R=B=+-H
2024 2023
HK$ BT —EmE —E-=F
HK$ own 42,763,401 30,968,265
Others HAh 3,479,723 3,441,311
46,243,124 34,409,576

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents approximate
their fair values.

eRBREFEYNEREERAATER

o

H
FN
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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16 SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES 16 BRAKREE
(a) Share capital and premium (a) BRAREE
Number Nominal value
of ordinary of ordinary
shares shares
HK$ BT EERHE EBREE
Authorised: ERE
Ordinary shares at HK$0.01 each BREE.01B T EBER
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023 and WR-Z-—FMA—HF —T - =4
2024 F_Z_MF=R=+—H 2,000,000,000 20,000,000
Number Nominal value
of ordinary of ordinary Share
shares shares premium
HK$ BT EBRHE EEREE R EE
Issued and fully paid: BEETRER
Ordinary shares at SREE0.01IB T L BER
HK$0.01 each
At 1 April 2022, RZZE-_—_FMA—AK
31 March 2023 —E-=F=H=+—H 600,000,000 6,000,000 52,482,955
Shares repurchased and  B&[E K& sE 85010 (4777)
cancelled (Note) (2,556,000) (25,560) (971,280)
At 31 March 2024 R-ZE-_MFE=R=+—H 597,444,000 5,974,440 51,511,675
Note:On 13 December 2023, the Company purchased 2,556,000 Kiit: RZEBE-=F+-F+=8 ' R#E
of its shares on the shares on the Stock Exchange at a BB N BMRGIE2571 - AR A A
consideration of HK$996,840 which was paid wholly out of 996,840 T Z R BERBM I FTEE
equity in accordance with section 257 of the Hong Kong 2,556,000/ fx 7+ 2 EP A=
Company Ordinance. The purchased shared were cancelled FoBERMENRFEZHE M
during the year and the total amount paid for the purchase of B2 B D P X 5 B9 424 $8996,840
the shares of HK$996,840 has been charged to equity of the BILERARAT Z B -
Company.
(b) Capital reserve (b) EXRfEE
Capital reserve as presented in the consolidated statement of RZZE_WHER=ZT=Z_=F=H

M B O® R M

financial position as at 31 March 2024 and 2023 represented

the shares contribution made by shareholders at nominal

value as part of the reorganisation before listing.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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16 SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued) 16 BRARGRE (&)

(c) Shareholder contribution (c)
The Group operated an equity-settled share-based
compensation plan, under which the Group received services
from Mr. Yip Kong Lok (“Mr. Yip”), a then consultancy service
provider and the executive director of the Group. Under the
share-based compensation plan, Mr. Yip provided technical
and marketing consultancy services to the Group in return
for share options to acquire a 30% equity interest of Sage
City at nominal consideration. The options were granted on
18 December 2003 and became exercisable on 31 March
2012, before being exercised on 14 August 2015. The amount
in shareholder contribution represents the fair value of
services received, the valuation of which was performed by
an independent qualified valuer using an income approach
by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments
granted. The share-based compensation expenses for such
services were recognised in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income from the date when the options
were granted on 18 December 2003 until the date when the
non-market vesting conditions were met and the options
became exercisable on 31 March 2012.

RREE
REEREREREE ARG BER
ZHEEE B AREEHEER
BRRGRMEERAEERNTESN
EBLTE([EEE])EIRE - 1B
TR AEERMERS - EEAE
A 7N 52 B 42 1 1 I e SH R R AR 7% -
ERER  FAZRREER TR
BESage City230%% # K B8 % #& -
ZEBRER_ZZ=FF+_ATN\
HW&&’%_¥*_¢:H:+*
BEEATE YR-_Z—RAFN\A
THEETE - RRLENSBRH
BEERBHATE HEEDHEL
EERMEMC2ZER T ERTA
B A FERB R EEET - AR
TRHURN AERNBEERZE R
RZZEZE=F+A+N\AELHER
BBEMREENETSIEENGE K
HEHIERGAZERERER B
BEER-_ZE——F=A=1+—H#
RAATE

17 DEFERRED INCOME TAX 17 BB
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally EHAT A BMITE S ENEAR 18 B E B
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against tax liabilities HAEESE UANESEEMGHER
and when the deferred income taxes relate to the same fiscal HHEAEAE A EEHBEERSA
authority. EE A o
Movements in deferred tax assets/(liabilities) are as follows: ERRBEEE,/ (BBE)NEFHUT :
2024 2023
HK$ BT —EF —EB-=F
As at 1 April WU A—H (203,890) (100,423)
Charged to the consolidated statement of &4 2 H R IB (#7:25)
comprehensive income (Note 25) (88,325) (103,467)
As at 31 March R=ZA=+—8 (292,215) (203,890)

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED B X ;2 &£ B A R & A



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= & B B ® Xk K O

17 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)

17

The movement in deferred tax assets/(liabilities) during the year,

without taking into consideration the offsetting of balances within

the same tax jurisdiction, is as follows:

EIEFRSE (8)

FEAG RRBRBE A)ARE R M 4
WERT  FANELERREE(8F)
2T :

Deferred tax assets: EEREEE !
Decelerated tax
depreciation
HK$ BT R IEINE
At 1 April 2022 R-E-_—FWA—H 875
Credited to the consolidated statement of RiGAZEWZEREA
comprehensive income 6,888
As at 31 March 2023 R-ZB-_=F=A=+—H 7,763
Credited to the consolidated statement of RiFEZEZEWEKRETA
comprehensive income 22,540
At 31 March 2024 RZE-_WMF=F=+—H 30,303
Deferred tax liabilities: REFIEEE

Accelerated tax
depreciation

HK$ BT MERBLIE T E
At 1 April 2022 RZE-—%#mA—H (101,298)
Charged to the consolidated statement of R4 A 2 EK R NG

comprehensive income (110,355)
At 31 March 2023 R-B-_=#=A=+—A (211,653)
Charged to the consolidated statement of R&E4& 2 EKHERING

comprehensive income (110,865)
At 31 March 2024 R-E-—m&E=A=+—H (322,518)
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18 TRADE PAYABLES 18 ERNEZRERX

The ageing analysis of trade payables based on invoice date is as

ENEZEFRENER A HORKRE DTN

follows: T -

As at 31 March

R=B=+-—H
2024 2023
HK$ BT —ECmE —E=F
1 - 30 days 1£30H 4,703,129 7,570,814
31 - 60 days 31£260H 4,456,228 5,409,186
61— 90 days 61£290H 5,243,177 1,632,687
Over 90 days BiEo0H 9,087,205 7,391,189
23,489,739 22,003,876

Trade payables are denominated in the following currencies:

ENESBRAATIEEEE

As at 31 March

R=B=+—8H

2024 2023

HK$ BT ZEINF ZE=F

HK$ BT 23,208,829 21,373,165

MOP BT 218,696 591,644

Others HAh 62,214 39,067

23,489,739 22,008,876

The carrying amounts of trade payables approximate their fair ENESRFXREHANZE At EERE
values due to their short maturities. BEEHEAFEEE -

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED B X ;2 &£ B A R & A
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20

& B B ® Kk KM =

ACCRUALS 19 [EFFEHR
As at 31 March
R=B=+—H
2024 2023
HK$ BT —E-ME —ET=F
Accrued expenses e X 4,759,863 2,833,211
Accruals are denominated in the following currencies: EErBERANUTIEBE
As at 31 March
W=BA=+—-H
2024 2023
HK$ BT —E-mE —T_=F
HK$ BT 4,645,922 2,615,236
MOP BFITT 29,650 95,378
Others Hith 84,291 122,597
4,759,863 2,833,211
The carrying amounts of accruals approximate their fair values. EAERNEmER TEEA

BANK BORROWINGS

20 RITEE
As at 31 March

R=B=+—H
2024 2023

HK$ BT —E-|mEF —E-=
Secured BHEA
- Bank borrowings which contain a — BEREREZRRNBITEE

repayable on demand clause 13,043,463 12,071,835
The fair values of bank borrowings approximate their carrying AR ETFER  RITEENA
amounts as the impact of discounting is not significant. As at 31 TEEHAEmMERESE R-_ET-_MNWE=A
March 2024, the Group'’s effective interest rate for bank borrowings =+—H AREERTEENSEINERA
was at a floating rate of 4.4% per annum (2023: 3.5% per annum). FEREFEAA% (ZE_=F : §FE35%) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

20 BANK BORROWINGS (Continued)
The bank borrowings due for repayment, based on the scheduled
repayment dates set out in the loan agreements, are as follows:

= 8

M B O® KR K

20 W|ITEE(K)

REERGEFROETEREE R
EEGHEREMT -

As at 31 March

R=A=+-—H

2024 2023

HK$ BT —EImE —E-=F
Within 1 year 16X 6,061,372 4,031,688
Between 1 to 2 years 1226 1,096,329 1,065,018
Between 2 to 5 years 2FE5F 2,834,026 3,056,732
Over 5 years R iB5F 3,051,736 3,918,397
13,043,463 12,071,835

As at 31 March 2024, total term and revolving banking
facilities of HK$25,543,463 (2023: HK$26,571,835) of which
approximately HK$12,500,000 was unutilised (2023: approximately
HK$14,500,000). These facilities were secured by:

(i) certain assets included in property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets with carrying amounts of
HK$9,325,014 and HK$23,136,337 (2023: HK$9,710,311 and
HK$24,127,880), respectively;

(ii) investment in an insurance contract with a carrying amount of
HK$1,374,731 (2023: HK$1,340,585); and

(iii) corporate guarantee provided by the Company.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group has not breached any of the

covenants of the banking facilities. The bank borrowings are
denominated in HK$.

R-Z-_WMEZA=+—H ' EHLER
RITEE#EEH25543 4638 (T ==
% : 26,571,835/ L) + E A 412,500,000
BEABHE(ZZT == : #14,500,000/8
TT) o ZEREE TR TERR

() ETAYME BERZEMEHE
EEMNETEE EEEED T
/9,325,0147% Jt % 23,136,3377%
T(ZFZ=%:9,710311 T &
24,127,880/ 7T )

iy R"RBRELOZEE HEEEAS
1,374,738 (ZZF = =4 : 1,340,585
BIL) &

(i) ANABIREHDEER -
RZZBE-_ME=A=+—0 ' "EFL K

BREMZIRERY - RAERUER
HHE
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107



102

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AN

21
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OTHER INCOME AND OTHER GAINS, NET 21 Htpl A R H o5 5 88
Year ended 31 March
BE=-R=t—-RHLEE
2024 2023
HK$ BT —EMF —E_=F
Government grants (Note) BUS R (M1aE) 480 1,841,216
Net fair value gains on financial assets at A TEEGFABRZEHEED
FVPL - unrealised NFERRFE-RER 496,102 169,487
Changes in cash surrender value of RiRBE A2 R E RS RRF
investment in an insurance contract BEZL 43,929 34,018
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEME « BE REHENK
equipment and right-of-use assets FREEE 2 W= 20,352 186,461
Service income (Note 30) AR WA (f77#30) - 96,000
Others Hth - 21,120
560,863 2,348,302
Note: The government grants for the year ended 31 March 2024 mainly Mt BE—Z_WF=A=+—HIEFEHK

represented the subsidies provided by the Construction Industry
Council under the Approved Technical Talents Training Programme
(2023: the subsidies provided by Government of Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region under the Employment Support Scheme arising
from the novel coronavirus-2019 pandemic (“COVID-19’)). There are
no unfulfilled conditions or other contingencies attached to these

grants.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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22 EXPENSES BY NATURE 22 RMEIAINRX
Expenses included in cost of sales and general and administrative STABEERAAR —RRITHRAYHE R
expenses are analysed as follows: SHWE

Year ended 31 March
BE=HA=1t—-HILEE

2024 2023

HK$ BT —EImE —E-=F
Cost of materials used (Note 11) ERMBIRA (FiE11) 53,519,002 64,946,483
Subcontractor costs DB 32,132,797 44,308,996
Employee benefit expenses (Note 23) RERAEL (A1:223)

— direct labour - HEET 6,323,984 5,084,926

— administrative staff —THEL 20,771,238 18,498,279
Depreciation of property, plant and M - BERZETE (H76)

equipment (Note 6) 1,225,406 1,031,012
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEENE (HiF10)

(Note 10) 2,239,873 1,734,200
Expenses related to short-term lease FHEHHEENTNAX

payments 329,438 323,969
Repair and maintenance expenses HEREERS 109,051 84,917
Motor vehicle expenses TERX 1,501,274 1,513,334
Auditor’s remuneration ZERI B 2

- audit services — ZE R 1,080,000 1,300,000

- non-audit services — ERERS 63,500 61,950
Write-off of inventories (Note 11) WHEEE HZE11) 72,678 333,143
Reversal of provision for inventory REFERERD (AaE11)

obsolescence (Note 11) (269,824) (159,627)
Other expenses Hinf X 8,225,084 7,941,797

127,323,501 147,003,379
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23 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

23 EEFAMAX
Year ended 31 March
BHE=BA=1+—-HILLEE

2024 2023

HK$ BT —EmE —E-=F
Wages, salaries, bonuses and allowances I #H& - e k=it 26,340,464 22,887,338
Pension cost — defined contribution scheme — E{R& A — E 2B 2 EH 2| 754,758 695,867
27,095,222 23,583,205

Companies within the Group in Hong Kong have participated
in the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance (the “MPF Scheme”), a defined
contribution scheme managed by an independent trustee.

Under the MPF Scheme, each of the Group companies and
its employees make monthly contributions to the scheme at a
minimum of 5% of the employee’s relevant income as defined
under the MPF Scheme, with the maximum mandatory contribution
by each of the Group companies and its employees limited to
HK$1,500 per month, and further contributions are voluntary.

The mandatory contributions are fully and immediately vested in
the employees as accrued benefits. The employees are entitled
to receive their entire voluntary contributions and 100% of the
Group’s employer voluntary contributions upon retirement or

AEBHETEERAHE2RRFIELE
SR BIGAI TR RGEATEE TS ([2E

&5t AR -EERENEE
MBUERAEE

RipRESHE AKEETARLEE
BYHEREEABAR (TR QBT
8) RES%IET ABBIMEHR - AR HE
BTRARERERHOBREIEHIAS
A15008TA LR YA {EE—F BRI
BIMERK

SRR XN 2B EEREN
FERTARA o (B B R INS R W1 512 BE 51
ASRER JREFEE2HERERRK
AKBE 2 2HEREREMH -

leaving the Group after completing one year of service.

Any forfeited voluntary contributions made by the Group are
used to reduce the Group’s employer voluntary contributions.
There were no forfeited contributions (by employers on behalf of
employees who leave the scheme prior to vesting fully in such
contributions) to offset existing contributions under the defined

contribution schemes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= & B B | x KM

23 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Continued) 23
Five highest paid individuals
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2024 include two directors
(2023: two) whose emoluments are reflected in Note 28. The
emoluments payable to the remaining three (2023: three)
individuals during the year ended 31 March 2024 are as follows:

EEREAMAX (&)

FEAREHAL
REBEZE-_Z-_NE=A=+—-HBILtEE"
AEBFHEENRRALTBERA (ZF
TEFWB)EF  HEMENRTE2S .
REBEE-_Z-_NE=A=+—BIFE
ERBT=2(ZF==F: =%) ATH
T

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=t-RLEFE

2024 2023

HK$ BT —ENmE —EC-=F
Wages, salaries, bonuses and allowances TI&  H& - k= 3,943,500 3,419,110
Pension cost — defined contribution scheme — B{R& A — E XA 2 EH 2 54,000 53,733
3,997,500 3,472,843

The emoluments fell within the following bands:

BRHEMNRATEE -

Number of individuals

AE
2024 2023
—E_ME B
Emolument band i
Nil - HK$1,000,000 £ %1,000,000/% 7T =
HK$1,000,000 - HK$1,500,000 1,000,000/ 7t £ 1,500,000/ 7T & 2
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24 FINANCE INCOME/(COSTS), NET

24 BIBWA (A R

Year ended 31 March
BHE=BA=1+—-HILLEE

2024 2023
HK$ BT —E-ME —ET=F
Finance income B BA
— Interest income on bank deposits — RITHEHFBEWA 519,719 144,443
— Interest income on convertible — ATERAE B S A
promissory note 235,836 179,162
— Interest income on loan receivables — EREEFR WA 8,877 -
764,432 323,605
Finance costs B 75 B AR
— Interest on bank borrowings — RITEENE (371,195) (470,586)
— Finance charges on leases liabilities - HEBBMBER (#iL10)
(Note 10) (91,264) (41,125)
... (482459 (511.711)
Finance income/(costs), net BIREWA/ (BA) 58 301,973 (188,106)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INCOME TAX EXPENSE
The amount of income tax expense charged to the consolidated

statement of comprehensive income represents:

= 8

M B O® KR K

25 FIEHEX

REAEHREROMERAX S8

Year ended 31 March
HE=A=1t—HILEE

2024 2023
HK$ BT —EF T fF
Current income tax: BIERRTIS RN -

- Hong Kong profits tax — BEAEH 3,609,926 3,903,867

— Under-provision in prior years - BEFEREEDR 39,945 169,535

3,649,871 4,073,402

Deferred income tax (Note 17) BB (HfiF17) 88,325 103,467

Income tax expense FaBBIX 3,738,196 4,176,869
(i) Hong Kong profits tax (i) BEIEH

(if)

In accordance with the two-tiered profits tax regime, for the
subsidiary entitled to this benefit, Hong Kong profits tax was
calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2,000,000 and 16.5% on
the remaining balance of the estimated assessable profits for
the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023. For other Hong
Kong incorporated subsidiaries, Hong Kong profits tax was
calculated at 16.5%.

Macau corporate income tax
Macau corporate income tax has been provided at the
applicable rate of 12% on the estimated assessable profit in
excess of MOP600,000 (approximately HK$583,000) of the
Group’s operations in Macau.

(i)

BREMNESHMARG  REZBZREERN
MBARME BEZT-_HER=
Z_=F=A=+—HLEFE FF
TS B & EHRERR B4 71 52,000,000
A ITCLAB.25%T & - M H #A{h 5T FE R
BB F AR 16.5%: & - HthE BB
ML KB A RIKE BRI A
1£16.5%:T & °

B EFESH

BT EMSHOEAERRMIER
B (& 5T FERR B 71 AR #838600,000/2 9
7T (#9583,0007% 7T) #) 26 1 bA 8 A &t
A% R
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26
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INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 25 FISHEX (E)

The taxation on the Group's profit before income tax differs from
the theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted average
tax rate applicable to the profit of the consolidated entities as

REBERASHAGNNHBEERAER
RERE ARRE B8 AR M 0 I0#E PO R 5t
ENEmTENERENT

follows:
Year ended 31 March
BE=ZA=t-HLFE
2024 2023
HK$ BT —EF —T=F
Profit before income tax B BT 1S B A A 18,527,377 23,989,768
Tax calculated at applicable tax rates RERABEFTENIE 2,920,046 3,796,529
Income not subject to tax BAERBIA (280,210) (304,647)
Expenses not deductible for taxation AAHIBEAL
purposes 1,070,415 545,452
Under-provision in prior years BEFERETR 39,945 169,535
Tax deduction T =R (12,000) (30,000)
Income tax expense FrEBim < 3,738,196 4,176,869

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 32.16(b),
the Group has no unrecognised tax losses as at 31 March 2024
(2023: HK$Nil).

RARMEE32.16(b) B M B ETBUR » A& H
RZZB-_ME=ZA=+—-B UV ERERH
BREEBE(ZE_=F: T8I °

DIVIDEND 26 KRE
Year ended 31 March
BE=-RA=t-HLEE
2024 2023
HK$ BT —E-mE —E-=F
Proposed final dividend — HK1 cent per R HARE — AR 1B
share (2023: HK1 cent per share) (ZE =% : FRK1B1) 5,974,440 6,000,000

Dividend paid during the year ended 31 March 2024 was
HK$6,000,000 (2023: HK$3,000,000).

A final dividend in respect of the financial year ended 31 March
2024 of HK1 cent per share (2023: HK1 cent per share), amounting
to a total dividend of HK$5,974,440 (2023: HK$6,000,000), is to
be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting. These
consolidated financial statement do not reflect this dividend
payable.
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27 EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF 27 AAREEAEGEERER
THE COMPANY

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit BRERBFZEEFEZARARRIER A
attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted average FEE & FI B A BT LB A INHE T &
number of ordinary shares in issue during the years. TE

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=t-RLEFE

2024 2023

HK$ BT —EomE —T-=F
Profit attributable to owners of the Vi N/NCTE PN b |

Company 13,857,632 19,116,886
Weighted average number of ordinary BT I i IR A DN 15 8

shares in issue 599,299,699 600,000,000
Basic earnings per share (HK cents) BREARAF (FBL) 2.31 3.19
Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted BREFERN T ERALRBE BT L ERM
average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume B (BREMEETHETBRER)
conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. Potential st - BEESRREREEBRATER
ordinary shares are dilutive when, and only when, their conversion KeREERANEIBAGHIFZE - 1
to ordinary shares would decrease earnings per share. As at 31 ZEINERZE=F=A=1+—H"
March 2024 and 2023, diluted earnings per share is equal to basic BRI EEEESRG Bt ERESA
earnings per share as there were no dilutive potential shares. MEERGREREAM -
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28 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 28 #ZE&FIRFIzH (8D A6 (£622
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION 383 OF THE B)¥3BMER AT (KEEERNAER)
HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (CAP.622) AND BB (5£622F) IR ENKEE)
COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT
BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP.622G)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (equivalent to key management (a) EZHE HERTEEEEEHMH)
compensation)
The remuneration of the directors is set out below: EZEMEHIWOT :
For the year ended 31 March 2024: HE-Z-_NF=A=+—HLEFE:

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking

fFRES (FARALTAENBAALE) REDBARACHIRUNNE

HKS -7
Name #4
Executive Directors Higz
Hir. Kwong ChiMan Bkt

M. Yip Kong Lok (Chief Executive Officer)  E%%t (f75#85)

Independent non-executive Directors ~ BU#HTE3

Ms. Yu Wan Wah Amparo AEENT
bir. Law Pui Cheung Bia%E
bir. Wat Danny Hiu Yan ERMEE
Ms. To Yee Man (Note 1) HERL i)
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28 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 28
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION 383 OF THE
HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (CAP.622) AND
COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT
BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP.622G)

(Continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (equivalent to key management

compensation) (Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2023:

ESHEARANE (BB QIRM (5622
B)EIBMERLAA (KEESRBER)
B (58622F) FrifE MY &) (&)

() EEHE (HERTZEEEHFMH)
(%)
BE_ZT_=F=A=t—HIFE:

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person's services as a director,
whet her of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking

HKS AT ERES(FRRAAATANBARNLR) RENEARKE ARELINHE
Other emoluments
paid or
receivable
in respect
of director's
ofher services
in connection with
the management
Employer's o the affairs of the
Allowances  contribution to Company or its
Discretionary  and benefits ~ a retirement subsidiary
Fees Salary bonuses inkind  benefit scheme undertaking Total
HESHEANAH
mEGEN  ARAFENELA
RER  HEELH  CXERSHRORE
HKS BT e #e miEka B Exft  EfsEknHE EE)
Name i57
Executive Directors HiEs
Mr. Kwong Chi Man BEik - 1469000 240,000 9743 - - 1718743
Mr. Yip Kong Lok ghans
(Chief Executive Officer) (frmes) - 1,378,000 220,000 41,001 18,000 - 1,657,001
Mr. Yip Wai Man (Note 2) SRR W) - 23226 150,000 - 6,000 - 3832%
Independent non-executive Directors ~~ BUFHTEZ
b, Yu Wan Weh Amparo REERT 128,000 = = = = - 128000
Mr. Law Pui Cheung Btk 128,000 = = = = = 126,000
Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan BB E 128,000 - - - - = 128,000
384000 3,079.29% 610,000 50744 24,000 - 4148040
Note: Bt -
(1) Ms. To Yee Man was appointed on 5 February 2024 (1) HEELLR-_T-_WNF-AAA
EZE-
(2) Mr. Yip Wai Man resigned on 27 July 2022. (2) EEXEER-_ZE-_—FLA-t+
A BHE

During the year ended 31 March 2024, none of the directors

of the Company waived their emoluments nor agreed to waive

their emoluments for the year (2023: nil).

REZE-_T-_NNF=RA=+—
BIEFE  AQAEFHEK
ZEHRAENEELFENE (=ZF
T=Fm|) o
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28 BENEFITS AND

M B O® R M

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION 383 OF THE
HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (CAP.622) AND
COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT
BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP.622G)
(Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Directors’ retirement benefits and termination benefits
Save as disclosed in Note 28(a), the directors did not receive
any other retirement benefits or termination benefits during
the year (2023: nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services
During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group did not pay
consideration to any third parties for making available the
directors’ services (2023: nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other dealings
in favour of the directors, bodies corporate controlled by
and connected entities with such directors

As at 31 March 2024, there are no loans, quasi-loans and
other dealing arrangements in favour of the directors, bodies
corporate controlled by and controlled entities with such
directors (2023: nil).

Director’s material interests in transactions, arrangements
or contracts

Save as disclosed in Note 30(a), no significant transactions,
arrangements and contracts in relation to the Group’s
business to which the Group was a party and in which a
director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: nil).
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28 ESEANRFE (82 AKRM (5622
B)FIMERLF (KEESHNBER)
B (58622F) Frif E MY &) (&)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

EEMEMBRRALLEF
BrifsE28(a) TR BIN - RAFE @ &
15 A MR A o] E AR AR AR A Sk AR UE
BH(ZE==F: &)

RERRESREAE=FRHENK
8
REBEE_Z_NME=A=+—HIF
B AEELRAERENESZRE
MAEAE=TXNRE(ZT=_=
FE) -

BRUES EZZFNEEREE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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29 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 29
(a) Cash flows from operating activities (a)

ReReRERME
RETHHABEERE

Year ended 31 March
BE=HA=1t—-HLEE

2024 2023
HK$ BT —E-IEF —E-=F
Cash flows from operating activities  &E&FHMEREHRE
Profit before income tax BR P15 5% Al A 18,527,377 23,989,768
Adjustments for: TS EELRE
— Interest income — FERKA (764,432) (323,605)
— Interest expense - MEREX 462,459 511,711
— Depreciation of property, plant and - % BEARENE
equipment 1,225,406 1,031,012
— Depreciation of right-of-use assets - ERREEENE 2,239,873 1,734,200
— Impairment loss on trade and retention  — JEWE 5 Bk 7 & B U R 22
receivables and contract assets A &é?’]ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁiﬂé (722,641) 748,363
- Changes in cash surrender value of = JW BedcRENER®
investment in an insurance contract RREEE(L (43,929) (34,018)
— Write-off of inventories — MEES 72,678 333,143
- Reversal of provision for inventory - REFERERD
obsolescence (269,824) (1569,627)
— Share of loss of an associate @Eﬁ% w A AR 2 FE IR
accounted for using equity method NAEEE 130,081 1,023,763
— Net fair value gains on financial assets — UAFEFAEBZZ S/
at FVPL — unrealised BEMNRATEREFHE
—RER (496,102) (169,487)
— Impairment on investment accounted ~ — ﬁ%%ﬁmﬁ)\ﬂ%Zﬁﬁﬁfﬁ
for using the equity method 3,160,771 -
— Gain from disposal of property, plant ~ — HEWZ BERZHEAR
and equipment and right-of-use FREEE WG
assets (20,352) (186,461)
Operating profit before working capital BEEGBHAILEEHM
changes 23,501,365 28,498,762
Changes in working capital: BEESEE :
- Decrease in inventories = ﬁéﬂw 1,093,881 10,907,991
- Decrease/(increase) in trade and — EWE ZEREER
retention receivables RE mw (42 10) 1,958,793 (17,515,969)
- Increase in prepayments, deposits and — A HIE « &E Kk
other receivables ,HWELI&?NE mn (1,917,564) (432,998)
— Decrease/(Increase) in contract assets EWBERD /(EM) 1,942,731 (3,324,911)
— (Decrease)/increase in contract EHEECHD) /Em
liabilities (3,793,853) 8,642,675
— Increase/(decrease) in trade payables — ERBZEZE M CH) 1,485,863 (240,889)
- Increase/(decrease) in accruals — EETEREN, CRY) 1,926,652 (292,957)
Net cash generated from operations REMFERS 26,197,868 26,241,704
KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED B X :2 &£ @ B R 2 7



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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29 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 29 #ZAB4RE RKT (&)

(Continued)
(b) Net cash reconciliation (b) FHREHE
This section sets out an analysis of net cash and the KENEH T2V FERFHR S ANEFIR
movements in net cash for each of the years presented. SEB DT o
As at 31 March
R=A=+—H
2024 2023
HK$ BT ZEINF —T_=F
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBEEEY 46,243,124 34,409,576
Bank borrowings RITIEE (13,043,463) (12,071,835)
Lease liabilities HE&E (2,486,578) (1,888,227)
Net cash FRe 30,713,083 20,449,514
Other assets Liabilities from financing activities
HiEE REEHEL AR
Cash
and cash Bank Lease
equivalents borrowings liabilities Total
BeR
HK$ BT ReEEN RITEE HEEE @t
Net cash as at 31 March 2022 W-E-—F#=f=+—H
LERE 23,869,941 (15,090,311) (845,435) 7,934,195
Cash flows Bene 10,492,096 3,018,476 692,096 14,202,668
Acquisition - leases YE-Hg - = (1,734,888) (1,734,888)
Foreign exchange adjustments SNE AR 47,539 - - 47,539
Net cash as at 31 March 2023 R-E-_=f=ZA=+-H
a3k 34,409,576  (12,071,835) (1,888,227) 20,449,514
Cash flows BeRE 11,842,283 (971,628) 962,281 11,822,836
Acquisition - leases YE-Hg - - (1,560,632) (1,550,532)
Foreign exchange adjustments SNE (8,735) - - (8,735)
Net cash as at 31 March 2024 R-ZE-ME=A=+—H
2854 46243124 (13,043463)  (2486,578) 30,713,083
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30 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 30 BEBAIRS
The directors of the Company are of the view that the following ARABEZEREBUTATEEAERER
individuals were related parties that had transactions or balances SR AE T B

with the Group.

Related parties Relationship with the Group
o)) BASBENEF

Mr. Kwong Chi Man (“Mr. Kwong”)

Controlling shareholder and executive director of the Group

BEXEE(TBEE]) AEERRBRRERATES

Ms. Li Chuen Chun (“Mrs. Kwong”) Spouse of Mr. Kwong

v+ ((BX]) BB 5E 4 /Y B 158

Ms. Kwong Wing Yan (“Ms. Kwong”) Daughter of Mr. Kwong

B+ (TBz+]) BEENZT

Carful Group Limited (“CGL”") Associate

ERNEBERAA(EREKE]D NG

(a) During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group (a) RBE-_ZE_WER-_ZT_=F=78

had the following significant transactions with its related

parties: BUTHEARS :

=+ BUEFE  NEEEEERT

Year ended 31 March
HE=A=1+-BL%E

2024 2023
HK$ BT —E-mE —F-=F
Rental paid in relation to rental contract B TRF|EFEIVHHEEAR L Z
entered into with BENES
— Mr. Kwong (Note b) — B&E (H15tb) 240,000 240,000
— Mrs. Kwong (Note b) — BK (HiEb) 40,800 40,800
— Mrs. Kwong and Ms. Kwong (Note b)  — BARE &+ (Ksb) 44,400 44,400
Service income from CGL (Note 21) REEREBENRBEWA
(Htst21) - 96,000
(b) As at 31 March 2024, the Group recognised lease liabilities (b)) RZE_WMF=A=+—H ' ££E

to related party of approximately HK$257,000 (2023:
HK$488,000) over the relevant property lease.
488,000/ 7T) °

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED & X i &

RN EEERR AR T NEE
BEH257,0008 T (ZF =%

115



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= & B B ® Xk K O

31 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE 31 AQBZHBRRAEZLFEESS
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
Statement of financial position of the Company RN T 2 B MR &
As at 31 March
R=B=+-—-H
Note 2024 2023
HK$ BT P 5 —EF —F==
ASSETS g
Non-current asset FRBEE
Investment in a subsidiary RETB AR ZERE (@) 27,008,999 27,008,999
Current assets NEEE
Prepayments, deposits and other BRMIE - He REM
receivables & W5k 18 500,239 399,031
Amounts due from subsidiaries A I ENGIE @ 57,431,519 58,164,475
Current income tax recoverable A BN ER AT 1S AR - 6,136
Cash and cash equivalents RekBCEEY 426,025 6,707,197
58,357,783 65,276,839
Total assets EEHE 85,366,782 92,285,838
LIABILITIES &
Current liabilities nEAE
Accruals it EH 264,574 313,750
Amounts due to a subsidiary NI ENGTE @] 22,500 -
Total liabilities BEAH 287,074 313,750
EQUITY &
Share capital % 5,974,440 6,000,000
Reserves B (b) 79,105,268 85,972,088
Tota equity L 85079708 91972068
Total equity and liabilities EEREELEHE 85,366,782 92,285,838
The statement of financial position of the Company was approved ARBINMBRAEBEEER 2T
by the Board of Directors on 26 June 2024 and was signed on its FRAZTAABHETHATESEREER
behalf. Z o
Mr. Kwong Chi Man Mr. Yip Kong Lok BEXEE BB EE

Director Director EZ EZ
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
(a) Particulars of principal subsidiaries

= & B B | x KM
31 FARAFZHBRARKFEEEE (F)

(a) TEMBRAFE

Place of
incorporation/ Issued and fully Principal activities and
Company name establishment paid up capital place of operation Interest held (%)
GRS AMRY/RukE ERORMRRE  TEERREEMY PR 5 (%)
2024 2023
ZERIME -ZCoZF
Directly held by the Company
ARREERE
Victor Ease Limited British Virgin Islands ~ US$10,000 Investment holding in Hong Kong 100 100
ARERAA EERUES 10,000% 7% REBUERERR
Indirectly held by the Company
ARABERE
Kwong Man Kee Engineering Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$100 Provision of engineering services in 100 100
flooring, screeding and anti-skid
surfacing in Hong Kong
BYRIRERAR &k 1007 REBREHTER HokR
REZGETENITRRE
Charter Ease International Limited British Virgin Islands ~ US§10,000 Investment holding in Macau 100 100
2REARERAA EBRAER 10,000% T REFREREER
Luxury Sense Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands ~ US$10,000 Investment holding in Macau 100 100
EBRAER 10,000% 7T REFREREER
Kwong Man Kee (Macau) Engineering ~ Macau MOP30,000 Provision of engineering services in 100 100
Limited flooring, screeding and anti-skid
surfacing in Macau
BGE (2F) TRARAF it 30,0008F 7 REMRMITEE et
REZGETEN TRRE
Sino Ocean International Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 Trading of materials in Hong Kong 100 100
mEARERAA B 10,000% 7T REBRENHES
Prolific Harvest International Limited British Virgin Islands ~ US$§10,000 Investment holding in Hong Kong 100 100
EHERERAA ABRAER 10,000% T REBRERAER
Kwong Man Kee Investment Company ~ Hong Kong HK$10,000 Investment holding in Hong Kong 100 100
Limited
BXZREARAA Bk 10,0007 72 REBRERELR
KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED B X :2 &£ @ B R 2 7
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31 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE 31 ZARAGZUBERRKRRFEHEEE (B)
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
(a) Particulars of principal subsidiaries (Continued) (a) FZEMEB QRS (&)
Place of
incorporation/ Issued and fully Principal activities and
Company name establishment paid up capital place of operation Interest held (%)
rRER MR/ RIBE  EROREERE  ITEBREXRE Fi (%)
2024 2023
“ECRE —B-cf
Kwong Man Kee Specialist Engineering  Hong Kong HK$10,000 Provision of engineering services 100 100
Limited in flooring, screeding, anti-skid

surfacing and specialised texture
painting in Hong Kong

BXREETIRERAA i 10,0007 RERRMMITHR HatE
BRIAREXNERES
IREH
KMK (Asia) Limited Hong Kong HK$100,000 Provision of engineering services 85 85
in waterproofing works in Hong
Kong
B (EH) ERAA i 100,000/ 7 REBRMHKIRAANIE
k%
Huge Talent International Investment Hong Kong HK$10,000 Investment holding in Hong Kong 100 100
Limited
BRARRERRAA i 10,0007 REBUSRAER
KMK International Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 Investment holding in Hong Kong 100 100
BXCERARAA &k 10,0007 REBUSRAER
KMK Krystaline Sdn. Bhd Malaysia MYR100 Trading of materials in Malaysia 100 100
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31 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE 31 ZAATZHBMRARRFEZE (&)
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
(b) Reserve movement of the Company (b) ARAFNREED
Share Capital Retained
premium reserve earnings Total
(Note)
HK$ BT RADEE EXRfE REEAR @st
(Hat)
At 1 April 2022 RZE-ZFWA—H 52,482,955 27,008,999 - 79,491,954
Profit for the year FERF - - 9,480,134 9,480,134
Dividends RES) = = (3,000,000)  (3,000,000)
At 31 March 2023 RZE-_=F=A=+—8Hk
and 1 April 2023 “EZ=FMmA—H 52,482,955 27,008,999 6,480,134 85,972,088
Profit for the year FEERF - - 104,460 104,460
Dividends &2 - - (6,000,000)  (6,000,000)
Shares repurchased and  B&[E & 5§55
cancelled (971,280) - - (971,280)
At 31 March 2024 R-ZE-_MFE=A=+—H 51,511,675 27,008,999 584,594 79,105,268
Note: Capital reserve of the Company represented the difference M. AATNBERFEERRIIKES
between the net asset value of Victor Ease Limited acquired IRERDAIZEEFERAR
over the nominal value of the share capital of the Company AEARBMBITHRAEEL
issued in exchange thereof. IR ZE% -

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED B X &2 £ B B R & A 119



120

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n

N

PaN
=)

M B O® R M

32 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIAL MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
32.1 Subsidiaries

Consolidation

Subsidiaries are all entities (including a structured entities)
over which the Group has control. The Group controls an
entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the entity.
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control
is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the
date that control ceases.

Intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses
on transactions between Group companies are eliminated.
Profits and losses resulting from inter-company transactions
that are recognised in assets are also eliminated. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary
to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of
subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated
statement of financial position, consolidated statement
of comprehensive income and consolidated statement of
changes in equity, respectively.

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests
that do not result in a loss of control as transactions with
equity owners of the Group. A change in ownership interest
results in an adjustment between the carrying amounts of the
controlling and non-controlling interests to reflect their relative
interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the
amount of the adjustment to non-controlling interests and any
consideration paid or received is recognised in a separate
reserve within equity attributable to owners of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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32 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIAL MATERIAL 32 HEBEEEASHHEHNE(E)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
32.2 Investment in an associate 322 REEE DR ZRE

Associates are all entities over which the Group has
significant influence but not control or joint control. This is
generally the case where the Group holds between 20%
and 50% of the voting rights. Investment in an associate is
accounted for using the equity method of accounting, after
initially being recognised at cost.

Under the equity method of accounting, the investment
is initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to
recognise the Group'’s share of the post-acquisition profits or
losses of the investee in profit or loss, and the Group’s share
of movements in other comprehensive income of the investee
in other comprehensive income. Dividends received or
receivable from the associate are recognised as a reduction
in the carrying amount of the investment.

Where the Group’s share of losses in an equity-accounted
investment equals or exceeds its interest in the entity,
including any other unsecured long-term receivables, the
Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the other
entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its
associate are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest
in the associate. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred. Accounting policies of equity-accounted
investee have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investment is tested
for impairment in accordance with the policy described in
Note 32.8.

BE AR EASEAREERTER
EEGI R RS ENERE  — R
BN T AREEEE H20%E50%H% R
RE o PAHEE N R 2 1% B W) IR K AN T
R UEREEAR -

RBEEZENE  RENSRAARE
REBEHE  UNBETHEILE
B HRE B R WE &8N &
B UERREtEERETEIRE
BREREHRNELE2E K
B B EREE AR AR B T
A RE BREEHA ©

78 S B B A B 2 A o B U
MERRENSBRE N EB
2% (B J5 1 2 45 3597 50 70 W 3K
H) - AREBTERRE—SHE -
BEHERS - BRAEE TR
E

ASBEABERNBZHNR HHE
iﬁ’]ﬂi"*‘iﬁuuﬁl SEAEERZ SN S
ARMESSREE - RFEARS
REEAMEREELRRE  TRIXK
BRBRETTUEHE - UBEARZ
REHSWEITHREHFLHLESR
B AREREASERTEMR R

3 o
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32 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIAL MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
32.3 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of
the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if the
carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.

32.4 Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the consolidated financial statements
of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in HK$,
which is the Company’s functional currency and the
Group’s presentation currency.
(b) Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions or valuation where
items are re-measured. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions
and from the translation at year-end exchange rates
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 3R

32 HMBEEEASHBREE (@)

32.3 BB BHE
R B R BRI BN AR IR ET
RN ABREEREIGRERA - K

B

ANRERARARE R E

L SE-2: YN

MRS BENE RS MR ANE R
ANEERERE  RWMBLHMBER
FTRARAEBHREHRNEGE
HHBEAREEFE(RREBE) N
REE MARBEZFRERBES
B HZEFREETRERR

324 HEEBmE

(a)

(b)

Wpe R 25| R
AKEZEERNES W KRR
RAFIMIE R AL EREEMR
ENIBRRBEREANERAE
([hEeE®]) - A MBHRERIA
BILEY  BTAAREMNIIRE
EBRARENZENNER

RER#EH

INER ZHLR 5 E (H18
BYUEHE) AHNRTE
RHERNEER - REEINE
R o MR EE B RO R AN
BHEMEREERRBMAEL
HORE X 8% - 9N 2 E N s R

7
e



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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32 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIAL MATERIAL 32 EHtEBEESASHBEHRE (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
32.4 Foreign currency translation (Continued) 32.4 HEEBmE ()

(c) Group companies (c) EELA]

The results and financial position of all the Group entities
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different
from the presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate
at the date of that statement of financial position;

(i) income and expenses for each income statement
are translated at average exchange rates (unless
this average is not a reasonable approximation
of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on
the transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the rate on the dates of
the transactions); and

(iii) all resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of any net investment in foreign entities
are recognised in other comprehensive income. When
a foreign operation is sold or any borrowings forming
part of the net investment are repaid, the associated
exchange differences are reclassified to profit or loss, as
part of the gain or loss on sale.

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED & X

ML ERE2 T RNAE
AEEER (RERDERRE
REBEDRNER) OXEARY
BRRTIEAT T ERERZ5
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32 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIAL MATERIAL 32 H#EZEEESASHHEHRE(8)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
32.5 Segment reporting 325 P HHRE

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who
is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been identified
as the directors of the Group who make strategic decisions.

32.6 Investment in an insurance contract

The Group invests in a key management life insurance
contract. The insurance contract is initially recognised at the
amount of premium paid, and subsequently measured at its
cash surrender value. Changes to the cash surrender value
are recognised in profit or loss and presented net within
“other income and other gains, net”. In the event of death
of the insured person, the surrender of the policy, or the
policy matures, the investment will be derecognised and any
resulting gains or losses will be recognised in profit or loss.

32.7 Property, plant and equipment

The property, plant and equipment is stated at historical
cost less accumulated depreciation. Historical cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of
the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance costs
are charged in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income during the financial period in which they are incurred.
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32 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIAL MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
32.7 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

32 HMBEEEASHBREE (@)

32.7 W% - BERRE (&)

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate their cost over their
estimated useful lives, as follows:

Buildings

Leasehold improvements

MEMEEKE

Furniture and equipment 3 years
ST =F
Motor vehicles 3 years
RE =%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 32.8).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
proceeds with carrying amount and are recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

32.8 Impairment of non-financial assets

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful
life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually
for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. Other
assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may
not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for
the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds
its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment,
assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there
are separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups
of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other
than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed
for possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each
reporting period.
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32 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIAL MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

32.9 Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out (FIFO)
method. The cost comprises costs of purchase and other
costs incurred in bringing the inventories to the construction
sites to be consumed in the provision of construction
services.

32.10 Financial assets
(a) Classification
The group classifies its financial assets in the following
measurement categories:

- those to be measured subsequently at fair value
(either through other comprehensive income or
through profit or loss), and

- those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’'s business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses
will either be recorded in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income. For investments in equity
instruments that are not held for trading, this will depend
on whether the Group has made an irrevocable election
at the time of initial recognition to account for the equity
investment at fair value through other comprehensive
income (FVOCI).

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only

when its business model for managing those assets
changes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

32 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIAL MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
32.10 Financial assets (Continued)

(b) Recognition and derecognition

(c)

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets
are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows
from the financial assets have expired or have been
transferred and the group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at FVPL, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.
Transaction costs of financial assets carried at fair value
through profit or loss are expensed in consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends
on the Group’s business model for managing the asset
and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There
are three measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

(a) Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in finance
income using the effective interest rate method.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is
recognised directly in profit or loss and presented
in other gains/(losses) together with foreign
exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses are
presented as separate line item in the statement of
profit or loss.
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32 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIAL MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
32.10 Financial assets (Continued)

(c) Measurement (Continued)

Debt instruments (Continued)

(b)

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the financial
assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest, are
measured at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying
amount are taken through OCI, except for the
recognition of impairment gains or losses,
interest income and foreign exchange gains and
losses which are recognised in profit or loss.
When the financial asset is derecognised, the
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in
OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss
and recognised in other gains/(losses). Interest
income from these financial assets is included in
finance income using the effective interest rate
method. Foreign exchange gains and losses are
presented in other gains/(losses) and impairment
expenses are presented as separate line item in
the statement of profit or loss.

FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for
amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL.
A gain or loss on a debt investment that is
subsequently measured at FVPL is recognised in
profit or loss and presented net within other gains/
(losses) in the period in which it arises.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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32 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIAL MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
32.10 Financial assets (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Measurement (Continued)

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group’s
management has elected to present fair value gains and
losses on equity investments in other comprehensive
income, there is no subsequent reclassification of fair
value gains and losses to profit or loss following the
derecognition of the investment. Dividends from such
investments continue to be recognised in profit or loss
as other income when the Group’'s right to receive
payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL
are recognised in other gains/(losses) in the statement
of profit or loss as applicable. Impairment losses (and
reversal of impairment losses) on equity investments
measured at FVOCI are not reported separately from
other changes in fair value.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments
is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase,
sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own equity
instruments.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its debt
instruments at amortised cost. The impairment
methodology applied depends on whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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32 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIAL MATERIAL 32 H#EZEEESASHHEHRE(8)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
RN EREFRT EURBESREME

32.11 Trade, retention and other receivables

Trade, retention and other receivables are amounts due from
customers for services performed in the ordinary course of
business. Trade receivables are recognised initially at the
amount of consideration that is unconditional. The Group
holds the trade receivables with the objective of collecting
the contractual cash flows and therefore measures them
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the
use of an allowance account, and the amount of the loss is
recognised in the impairment loss on trade and retention
receivables in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income. When a trade, retention and other receivable is
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account
for trade, retention and other receivables. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited
against the impairment loss on trade and retention
receivables in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

If collection of trade, retention and other receivables is
expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating
cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as current
assets. If no, they are presented as non-current assets.

32.12 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand and
deposits held at call with banks with original maturities of
three months or less.

For the purpose of presentation in the statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand,
deposits held at call with banks with original maturities of
three months or less that are readily convertible to known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

32 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIAL MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
32.13 Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
share or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of
tax, from the proceeds.

32.14 Trade and other payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services
provided to the Group prior to the end of financial year which
are unpaid. Trade and other payables are presented as
current liabilities unless payment is not due within 12 months
after the reporting period. They are recognised initially at
their fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

32.15 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
carried at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value
is recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income over the period of the borrowings using the effective
interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that
it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn
down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the drawdown
occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable
that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee
is capitalised as a pre-payment for liquidity services and
amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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32 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIAL MATERIAL 32 H#EZEEESASHHEHRE(8)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
32.15 Borrowings (Continued) 3215 5 & (&)

Borrowings are removed from the consolidated statement
of financial position when the obligation specified in the
contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference
between the carrying amount of a financial liability that has
been extinguished or transferred to another party and the
consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred
or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss as
finance costs.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting
period.

32.16 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense for the period is the tax payable on
the current period’s taxable income based on the applicable
income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in
deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary
differences and to unused tax losses. Current and deferred
tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it
relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

(a) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting period in the countries where the
Company and its subsidiaries and associates operate
and generate taxable income. Management periodically
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to
interpretation and considers whether it is probable that a
taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment.
The Group measures its tax balances either based on
the most likely amount or the expected value, depending
on which method provides a better prediction of the
resolution of the uncertainty.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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32 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIAL MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
32.16 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

32 HMBEEEASHBREE (@)

32.16 BN R BRI Fr 55 (48

(b) Deferred income tax (b) BEEFTEH

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the consolidated financial statements.
However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised
if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill.
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a transaction other than a business combination that at
the time of the transaction affects neither accounting
nor taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period and are expected to apply when
the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.

The deferred tax liability in relation to investment
property that is measured at fair value is determined
assuming the property will be recovered entirely through
sale.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable
that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise
those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for
temporary differences between the carrying amount and
tax bases of investments in foreign operations where
the company is able to control the timing of the reversal
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32 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIAL MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
32.16 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(b) Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where there
is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
and liabilities and where the deferred tax balances
relate to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets
and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally
enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this
case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

32.17 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle
the obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole.

A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow
with respect to any one item included in the same class of
obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation
using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of
time is recognised as interest expense.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

32 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIAL MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
32.18 Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for
services rendered in the normal course of business.

(a) Sales of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the
control of the products has transferred, being when the
products are delivered to the customer, the customer
has full discretion over the channel and price to sell the
products, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could
affect the customer’s acceptance of the products.

A receivable is recognised when the goods are
delivered as this is the point in time that the
consideration is unconditional because only the passage
of time is required before the payment is due. Contract
liabilities are recognised when payments are received
from customers in advance but the relevant performance
obligation has not been performed.
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32 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIAL MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
32.19 Interest income

Interest income is presented as finance income where

it is earned from financial assets that are held for cash

management purposes. Any other interest income is included

in other income.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective

interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial

asset except for financial assets that subsequently become

credit-impaired. For credit impaired financial assets, the

effective interest rate is applied to the net carrying amount of

the financial asset (after deduction of the loss allowance).

32.20 Employee benefits

()

(b)

(c)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result
of services rendered by employees up to the reporting
date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave
are not recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

The Group participates in a defined contribution plan
in Hong Kong and pays contributions to privately
administered pension insurance plans on a mandatory,
contractual or voluntary basis. The Group has no further
payment obligations once the contributions have been
paid. The contributions are recognised as employee
benefit expense when they are due.

Bonus plan

The Group recognises a liability and an expense
for bonuses based on a formula that takes into
consideration the profit attributable to the Company’s
owners. The Group recognises a provision where
contractually obliged or where there is a past practice
that has created a constructive obligation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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32 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIAL MATERIAL 32 HEBEEEASHHEHNE(E)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

32.21 Leases 3221 HE

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of
transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group determines
that the arrangement conveys a right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Such determination is made on an evaluation
of the substance of the arrangement, regardless of whether
the arrangements take the legal form of a lease.

The Group enters into lease agreements as a lessee with
respect to certain premises, motor vehicles and equipment.

Leases are initially recognized as right-of-use assets and
corresponding liabilities at the date of which the leased asset
is available for use by the Group. Each lease payment is
allocated between the liability and finance cost. The finance
cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability for each period. The right-of-use asset
is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the
asset’s estimated useful life and the lease term.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include
the net present value of the following lease payments:

e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments),
less any lease incentives receivable;

e variable lease payment that are based on an index or a
rate;

e amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under
residual value guarantees;

e the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise that option;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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32 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIAL MATERIAL 32 H#EZEEESASHHEHRE(8)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
32.21 Leases (Continued) 3221 HE (&)

o payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the lessee exercising that option; and

o lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the measurement
of lease liabilities.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined,
which is generally the case for leases in the Group, the
lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate
that the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the
right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with
similar terms, security and conditions.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

. the amount of the initial measurement of lease liabilities;

e any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentive received;

e any initial direct costs; and

. restoration costs, if any.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter
of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line
basis.

Payments associated with short-term leases of equipment and
vehicles and all leases of low-value assets are recognised on
a straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term
leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less
without a purchase option. Low-value assets comprise IT
equipment and small items of office furniture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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32 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIAL MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
32.22 Government grants

32 HMBEEEASHBREE (@)

32.22 R Bh

Government grants are recognised at their fair value when
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and the Group will comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and
recognised in the combined statements of comprehensive
income over the period necessary to match them with the
costs that they are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to the purchase of property,
plant and equipment are included in non-current liabilities as
deferred income and are credited to combined statements
of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the
expected lives of the related assets.

32.23 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Company’s consolidated
financial statements in the period in which the dividends are
approved by the Company's shareholders or directors, as
appropriate.
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> FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
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E F M OB B =
2023 2022 2021 2020
—E-= —E-= B 4% ZZTEZHF
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Revenue & 170,605,077 110,416,026 118,873,665 95,024,421
Profit before taxation e 5 A A 23,989,768 9,162,289 18,197,196 7,618,310
Profit attributable to RRBHEE A
owners of the Company  FE{E ¥ 19,116,886 7,463,648 15,567,820 6,212,831
Cash flows BeRE
Net cash generated from & EEFTEFH S
operating activities 24,199,162 148,112 17,566,361 2,277,982
At year end REHE
Total assets EEMAE 174,298,372 149,801,514 129,921,621 119,177,048
Total liabilities EEQE 55,624,678 47,985,078 29,519,379 34,183,549
Total equity HERBE 118,673,694 101,816,436 100,402,242 84,993,499
Cash and bank balances R4 NiR1T4 8 34,409,576 23,869,941 34,551,775 19,612,765
Per share data BREE
Earnings per share FRAF
- basic (HK cents) —EAR(BW) 3.19 1.24 2.59 1.04
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